

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews



# Integrins in wound healing, fibrosis and tumor stroma: High potential targets for therapeutics and drug delivery



### Jonas Schnittert<sup>a</sup>, Ruchi Bansal<sup>a</sup>, Gert Storm<sup>a,b</sup>, Jai Prakash<sup>a,c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Section - Targeted Therapeutics, Department of Biomaterials Science and Technology, University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands

<sup>b</sup> Department of Pharmaceutics, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands

<sup>c</sup> ScarTec Therapeutics BV, Enschede, The Netherlands

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 December 2017 Received in revised form 16 January 2018 Accepted 29 January 2018 Available online 4 February 2018

#### ABSTRACT

Wound healing is a complex process, which ultimately leads to fibrosis if not repaired well. Pathologically very similar to fibrosis is the tumor stroma, found in several solid tumors which are regarded as wounds that do not heal. Integrins are heterodimeric surface receptors which control various physiological cellular functions. Additionally, integrins also sense ECM-induced extracellular changes during pathological events, leading to cellular responses, which influence ECM remodeling. The purpose and scope of this review is to introduce integrins as key targets for therapeutics and drug delivery within the scope of wound healing, fibrosis and the tumor stroma. This review provides a general introduction to the biology of integrins including their types, ligands, means of signaling and interaction with growth factor receptors. Furthermore, we highlight integrins as key targets for therapeutics and at cellular level. Next, therapeutic approaches targeting integrins, with a focus on clinical studies, and targeted drug delivery strategies based on ligands are described.

© 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	8
2.	Integrin receptors	8
	2.1. Integrin heterodimers and ligand specificity	8
	2.2. Integrin signaling	8
	2.3. Integrins and growth factor receptor interactions	9
	2.4. Integrin and growth factor receptor interactions	0
3.	Integrins as key targets in wound healing, fibrosis and tumor stroma	1
	3.1. Wound healing	1
	3.2. Fibrosis	4
	3.2.1. Kidney fibrosis	4
	3.2.2. Liver fibrosis	4
	3.2.3. Lung fibrosis	4
	3.3. Tumor stroma	5
	3.4. Metastasis	5
4.	Therapies based on integrins inhibition	6
5.	$\alpha$ v-Family integrins	7
6.	$\alpha$ 5-Family integrins	7
7.	$\alpha$ 2-Family integrins	8
8.	β1-Family integrins	8
9.	$\alpha$ L, $\alpha$ M and $\beta$ 2-Family integrins	8

\* This review is part of the Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews theme issue on "Wound healing and scar wars - Part 1".

\* Corresponding author at: Section Targeted Therapeutics, Department of Biomaterials Science and Technology, MIRA Institute for Biomedical Technology and Technical Medicine, University of Twente, Zuidhorst 254, 7500 AE Enschede, The Netherlands.

E-mail address: j.prakash@utwente.nl (J. Prakash).

10.	Drug targeting strategies based on integrin ligands	48
11.	Conclusions and future directions	49
Refei	rences	49

#### 1. Introduction

Wound healing is a complex process, which if not repaired leads to scar formation so-called fibrosis. Fibrosis, a hallmark of an excessive extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition, accounts for about 45% of lethalities in the modern world [1]. In general, fibrotic diseases are caused by chronic tissue injury, resulting in chronic inflammation and fibrosis which leads to destruction of the normal tissue architecture and ultimately organ failure. Currently, there are no effective treatment opportunities for tissue fibrosis and therefore there is a desperate need for effective anti-fibrotic therapies. In addition, tumors are regarded as "wounds that do not heal" due to extensive fibrosis within tumors. Fibrosis and tumor share a strikingly similar cellular and microenvironmental reactivity. Several tumor types undergo a fibrotic reaction socalled desmoplasia or tumor stroma. The tumor stroma has been shown to strongly support the tumor growth by many means and therefore these tumors are referred to as fibrosis-driven tumors [2].

Tissue fibrogenesis is a complex process orchestrated by a bidirectional crosstalk between the different cell types including inflammatory cells, epithelial cells, myofibroblast and ECM in response to the wound healing process [3]. Cell fate within fibrotic tissues is profoundly affected by the highly dynamic environment of the pericellular ECM mainly produced by myofibroblasts [4]. During fibrosis, integrins, a family of transmembrane receptors, mediate various cell-matrix and cellcell interactions. Integrins facilitate communication between the ECM, non-parenchymal cells including inflammatory cells, fibroblasts, and parenchymal cells, and by these interactions, integrins are directly involved in the initiation and progression of tissue fibrosis [4]. Therefore, integrins represent highly interesting therapeutic targets.

Within this review, we provide a general introduction of integrins and integrin-mediated signaling, an overview of integrin expression in fibrosis-related cell types, and interaction between integrins and growth factor receptors. The next section describes the role of integrins in wound healing, fibrosis-driven tumor, tumor metastasis and fibrosis. Finally, the last two sections are focused on the novel therapies based on integrin inhibition, including clinical developments, and drug delivery strategies to target integrins.

#### 2. Integrin receptors

#### 2.1. Integrin heterodimers and ligand specificity

Integrins are a family of heterodimeric cell surface receptors, each consisting of one  $\alpha$  and one  $\beta$  subunit. Overall, there are 18  $\alpha$  and 8  $\beta$  subunits that combine to form heterodimers. So far 24 different functional heterodimeric integrin receptors have been identified. Each integrin receptor specifically binds to one or more ligands. Their specific

#### Table 1

Integrin heterodimer subfamilies comprised of 24 integrin receptors and their respective ligands.

Integrin receptor subfamilies	Integrin type
Collagen receptors	α1β1, α2β1, α10β1, α11β1
Fibronectin, vitronectin, fibrinogen and	$\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1, $\alpha$ 8 $\beta$ 1, $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 1, $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 3,
thrombospondin receptors (RGD binding)	ανβ5, ανβ6, ανβ8, αΙΙbβ1
Laminin receptors	α3β1, α6β1, α7β1, α6β4
Fibronectin receptors (non-RGD binding)	α4β1, α9β1, α4β7
Leukocyte receptors	αDβ2, αLβ2, αMβ2, αXβ2,
	$\alpha E\beta 2, \alpha 4\beta 1, \alpha 4\beta 7$

ligand binding ability enables cells to connect with its surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM), thereby enabling cell motility and invasion. Integrins possess a physical connection with the inside and the outside of a cell, which allows for bidirectional sensing of signals. With this mechanism, integrins ultimately control cytoskeleton organization, thereby directly affecting essential cellular functions such as cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, survival and differentiation [5]. The local expression pattern of both integrins and their ligands controls the response of a cell to its microenvironment, as every individual integrin heterodimer is capable to bind multiple ligands and also a ligand may bind to multiple integrin heterodimers [5].

In addition to controlling a range of physiological functions, integrins also sense ECM-induced extracellular changes during pathological events such as fibrosis, cancer and wound healing, leading to cellular responses, which influence ECM remodeling [5]. Next to binding ECM components, integrins are also capable of participating in cell-cell adhesions, for which they bind to counter receptors on adjacent cells such as ADAMs (A Disintergins And Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs)), thereby promoting matrix remodeling [6]; as well as immunoglobulin-type receptors such as intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs) and vascular cell adhesion molecules (VCAMs) which are expressed on leukocytes and endothelial cells [7].

Integrins can be classified into five different integrin subfamilies (Table 1) [6]. Integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 10\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 11\beta 1$ , belong to the  $\beta 1$  containing collagen receptors [6]. The integrins  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 8 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 3,  $\alpha v\beta 5$ ,  $\alpha v\beta 6$ ,  $\alpha v\beta 8$  and  $\alpha IIb\beta 1$ , belong to the RGD (arginine-glycineaspartic acid)-binding integrins capable of binding to the ECM and plasma proteins such as fibronectin, vitronectin, fibrinogen and thrombospondin [6,8]. The integrins  $\alpha$ 3 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 6 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 7 $\beta$ 1 and  $\alpha$ 6 $\beta$ 4 are laminin receptors that mediate cell adhesion to the basement membranes of various tissues [6]. The  $\alpha 4\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 9\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  integrin family also binds to fibronectin but in a RGD-independent manner via the adhesive sequences EILDV and REDV [6,8]. Additionally, integrin  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  are also able to bind counter receptors in other cells e.g. intercellular adhesion molecules [6]. Integrins  $\alpha D\beta 2$ ,  $\alpha L\beta 2$ ,  $\alpha M\beta 2$ ,  $\alpha X\beta 2$  and  $\alpha E\beta 2$  belong to the leukocyte integrin subgroup, binding to receptors such as intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs) and plasma proteins such as complement component C3b and C4b [6].

#### 2.2. Integrin signaling

During interactions of integrins with ligands of the surrounding ECM, integrins undergo a conformational change and cluster in the plane of the cell-membrane [8]. This change in conformation activates integrins to a high avidity state. Within this state, integrins recruit various signaling and adaptor molecules to form focal adhesions [8]. The composition of these focal adhesions varies dependent on whether these contacts are formed in a two-dimensional or three-dimensional environment [9]. While lacking kinase activity by themselves, clustered integrins are capable of recruiting and activating kinases such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK), Src family kinases (SFKs) and scaffold molecules such as p130CRK-associated substrate (p130CAS or BCAR1) [8].

Next to activating kinases, integrins can also connect the ECM to the actin cytoskeleton by recruiting proteins including talin, paxillin,  $\alpha$ -actinin, tensin and vinculin [8]. Furthermore, several scaffolding and signaling functions required for integrin-mediated effects on cell migration and survival are controlled by the integrin-linked kinase (ILK), PINCH and parvin. The ILK-PINCH-parvin (IPP) ternary complex functions as an essential signaling platform that regulates various scaffolding and

J. Schnittert et al. / Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 129 (2018) 37-53



**Fig. 1.** Schematic representation and description of the distinct mechanisms by which integrins and growth factor receptors regulate the activation of signaling pathways within the cell. During concominant signaling, integrins together with growth factor receptors, signal independently to trigger the same signaling molecule. Thereby, integrins gather a platform of signaling proteins, which facilitate growth factor receptors signaling. During direct activation, integrins activate growth factor receptor signaling independent of growth factors. In collaborative signaling, integrin receptors create a permissive environment which enables growth factor receptor to interact with downstream signaling molecules. Growth factor receptor signaling triggers increased integrin expression, which can further induce growth factor receptor signaling. Integrin integrin with the ECM can cause negative regulation of growth factor receptor signaling mechanism are stated as examples. The cooperation between integrins and growth factor receptors has been reviewed in more detail by lvaska *et al.* [13].

signaling functions which enable integrin-mediated effects on cell migration and survival [10]. Moreover, integrins function in tumor cells might be regulated by integrin recruitment to microdomains by tetraspanin [8]. Regulation and activation of microdomains and other focal adhesion proteins influence cell adhesion and migration on the ECM. Many of these molecules are investigated as promising therapeutic targets [8]. In some cases, integrin function is based on its ligand binding affinity [8]. The affinity and activation of an integrin receptor can be induced by ligand-mediated integrin clustering or increased intracellular signaling driven by molecules such as GTPase RAP1A [11]. Therefore, signaling which is induced by oncogenes or growth factor receptors might influence integrin affinity and function [8].

#### 2.3. Integrins and growth factor receptor interactions

Integrins and growth factor receptors play an important role for signal integration [12]. Crosstalk between integrins and growth factor receptors have been described for the TGF $\beta$  receptor, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), Met receptor (hepatocyte growth factor receptor (HGFR) superfamily), platelet derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), insulin receptor and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) [12]. There are various different classes of signal integration between different integrins and growth factor receptors [13]. In the following, we describe the five classes of signal coordination (i) concominant signaling, (ii) collaborative signaling, (iii) direct activation and (iv) amplification of signaling and (v) negative regulation (Fig. 1) [13].

(i) Concomitant signaling

During concomitant signaling, integrins together with growth factor receptors signal independently to trigger the same signaling molecule (Fig. 1). Pathways which are affected by concomitant signaling include Ras-MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase), PI3K-Akt (PI3K (phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase)) and Akt (Protein Kinase B), and Rho [12–15]. As an example Akt can be activated by integrins and growth factor receptors in a PI3K-dependent manner via distinct mechanisms

[13]. Phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 and Thr308 and of Akt kinase activity is induced by integrin  $\beta$ 1 independently of EGFR signaling, while epithelial growth factor (EGF) induces Akt activity via the Fak and Src independent of cell adhesion [13].

#### (ii) Collaborative signaling

Collaborative signaling is very similar to concomitant signaling in the way that cells require integrin-mediated adhesion to proceed through the cell cycle and respond to growth factors, since growth factor receptor signaling is inefficient in the absence of cell adhesion [13]. During collaborative signaling, integrin receptors create a permissive environment in which growth factor receptors can interact with downstream signaling molecules (Fig. 1) [16]. The difference between concomitant and collaborative signaling is that during collaborative signaling the receptor signals are spatially and temporally controlled while in concomitant both integrins and growth factor receptors work independently [13]. An example for this type of signaling is that cells which only express Met in the absence of integrin  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  no-longer respond to hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) showing the collaboration between integrin  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  and the Met receptor (HGFR) [17].

(iii) Direct activation

During direct activation of growth factor receptors, integrins induce growth factor phosphorylation in absence of the corresponding growth factor (Fig. 1). This ligand-independent activation process has been shown for the growth factor receptors EGFR, Ron (Recepteur d'Origine nantais, member of HGFR superfamily), VEGFR, IGFR (insulin-like growth factor receptor) and PDGFR [18–25]. An example for direct activation is the ability of integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 to activate VEGFR-2, IGFR-1 and PDGFR in a growth factor independent manner [21–26]. Additionally, in macrophages integrin  $\beta$ 1 is associated with Ron and the adhesion to collagen or fibronectin results in the phosphorylation of Ron in a Src-dependent manner and binding of integrin  $\alpha5\beta$ 1 by fibronectin induces activation of Met [20,26].

#### (iv) Amplification of signaling

Another form of crosstalk between integrins and growth factor receptors is amplification of signaling. It is based on the ability of growth factors to activate signaling by binding to their corresponding growth factor receptors which can then increase the expression of integrins [13]. This amplification process has for example been shown for HGF, increasing the expression of integrin  $\alpha 2$  and  $\alpha 3$  [27,28], which could contribute to the amplification of Met signaling in response to HGF via the FAK-Src axis [13].

#### (v) Negative regulation

As described above, integrins mostly function as positive regulators of growth factor receptor signaling. However, integrin interaction with the ECM can also inhibit growth factor receptor signaling through phosphatase activation and recruitment of, for example, T cell protein tyrosine phosphatase (TCPTP) (Fig. 1) [13]. In renal fibrosis, it has been shown that Integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  reduces Smad-dependent profibrotic signaling in kidney duct derived cells by TCPTP-mediated dephosphorylation of TGF $\beta$ R2 (a variant of the TGF $\beta$  receptors II) [29].

#### 2.4. Integrin and growth factor receptor interactions

The following are some examples showing interactions between integrins and growth factor receptors in relation to fibrosis and cancer. Growing evidence suggests that the progression of fibrosis is affected by signaling between integrins, growth factor receptors and cytokine or chemokine receptors. Next to cell adhesion, migration, invasion and survival, integrin crosstalk also affects the host response to fibrosis driven diseases [8].

(i) Interaction with TGF<sub>β</sub>R

Transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGFB1), in its secreted form, is one of the main pro-fibrotic cytokines and regulator of fibrosis in multiple organs [3]. Most of the pro-fibrogenic TGF<sub>B</sub>1 is secreted and bound to the ECM in its latent form [3]. Conversion of latent TGFB1 into its active form is an important step that regulates TGF $\beta$ 1 activity [3].  $\alpha v$ integrins are known for their ability to activate latent TGFB1 [4]. Evidence for the interaction between TGFB and integrins came from the structural analysis of the molecule by Ruoslahti and Pierschbacher et al. [30], which suggested that TGFB1 & TGFB3 bind to integrins based on their linear sequence of arginine, glycine and aspartic acid (RGD), which is known to be crucial for the interaction of many integrins with their respective ligands. The integrins  $\alpha v\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha v\beta 3$ ,  $\alpha\nu\beta5$ ,  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  and  $\alpha\nu\beta8$  were identified to bind to the RGD-sequence of the latency associated peptide (LAP) of TGF<sub>B1</sub> and TGF<sub>B3</sub>, and are capable to activate latent TGF $\beta$  [31–35]. During pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis, TGF $\beta$ 1 activation is regulated by integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$  [36]. Integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$  activates TGF $\beta$  by inducing a conformational change in the integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$ -bound latent TGF $\beta$  complex which then presents active TGF $\beta$  to its receptor on adjacent cells via cell-cell contact [31,36]. Marsh et al. [37] showed that integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$  dependent activation of TGFB resulted in the differentiation of human fibroblasts into tumor stroma-associated myofibroblasts. Myofibroblasts are capable to activate TGFB1 from self-generated deposits in the ECM by means of  $\alpha v\beta 5$  integrins which transmits the highly contractile forces of these cells to the latent complex of TGF $\beta$ 1. Additionally, integrin  $\alpha v\beta 8$  has been shown to activate TGF $\beta$  by presenting the latent TGF $\beta$  complex to metalloproteinases that cleave the complex, resulting in the release of free TGF $\beta$  into the extracellular milieu [36].

Integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 is known to induce EMT in mammary epithelial cells by cooperating with TGF $\beta$  via Src-dependent phosphorylation of TGF $\beta$ receptor type 2 [38]. Integrin  $\beta$ 3 deficiency in mice was shown to correlate with elevated levels of TGF $\beta$  receptor 1 and 2, reduced levels of Smad 3, sustained nuclear localization of Smad 2 & 4 and TGF $\beta$ 1mediated fibroblast migration [39]. These data indicate that integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 is expressed on platelets, macrophages, endothelial cells and fibroblasts during wound repair and is capable of repressing TGF $\beta$ 1mediated signaling [39]. Increased expression of  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5 in fibroblasts increases their responsiveness to TGF $\beta$ 1 by recruiting latent TGF $\beta$ 1 on the cell surface and stimulating the interaction between  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5 and the TGF $\beta$ receptor [40].

(ii) Interaction with VEGFR2

During angiogenesis, endothelial cells express integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta5$  that interacts with VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2) to promote VEGF-induced angiogenesis via the Ras-ERK pathway [41,42]. Additionally, integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta5$  in cooperation with VEGFR2 causes inflammatory mediators (e.g. tumor necrosis factor) induced resistance of endothelial cells to extrinsic apoptosis, via Src-dependent phosphorylation of Raf Tyr340 and Tyr341 [5]. Mice with genetic knockout of integrin  $\beta3$  showed an abnormal endothelial cell morphology which was associated with increased VEGF signaling [43]. Integrins also play a major role in the control of neovascularization in wound healing, where they act as co-receptors for the growth factor-receptors VEGF and angiopoietin, and support the assembly of vascular membranes [6].

(iii) Interaction with FGFR

In endothelial cells, cross-talk between integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 and fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) was found to induce angiogenesis downstream of FGF binding [42]. Evidences support that FGFR and integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 cooperate to increase the phosphorylation of Raf Ser 338 and Ser 339 through the PAK (p21-Activated Protein Kinases) pathway, resulting in Raf-ASK1 complex formation in mitochondria, thereby inhibiting the intrinsic apoptosis pathway [8]. Furthermore, knockdown studies in mice have shown that integrin  $\beta$ 4 expression correlates with decreased FGF-induced angiogenesis and reduced tumor size via P-ERK and NF-kappaB signaling pathways [44].

Integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  negatively regulates EGFR-mediated Rac activation, thereby reducing the production of reactive oxygen species in mesangial cells resulting in attenuation of fibrogenesis in mice [45]. Additionally, other studies have shown that integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  also regulates activation of TCPTP, resulting in the inhibition of EGFR and VEGFR2 signaling [46,47].

(iv) Interaction with other growth factor receptors

Integrin  $\beta$ 4 was found to functionally collaborate with the Met tyrosine kinase receptor for HGF resulting in increased fibroblast transformation and tumorigenic potential [48]. The expression of insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF-2) has shown to be stimulated by the expression of integrin subunit  $\alpha$ 11 $\beta$ 1 in stromal fibroblast of non-small-cell lung carcinoma [49].

In primary cultures of hepatic stellate cells, the liver fibrosis promoting connective tissue growth factor, CTGF (or CCN2), was shown to regulate the expression of integrins on hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) and additionally facilitate HSCs adhesion via binding to integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ , which interacts cooperatively with heparin sulfate proteoglycans or fibronectin [50].



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of the 24 different integrin receptor pairs, including their ligand specificity and cellular expression in fibrosis, tumor stroma and wound healing. The integrins cellular expression has been subdivided into non-pathogenic cells, named "normal", and pathogenic cells, named "disease".

# 3. Integrins as key targets in wound healing, fibrosis and tumor stroma

The following section describes the cell type specific expression of integrins (summarized in Fig. 2) as well as their functional role in wound healing, tumor stroma, metastasis and kidney, liver and lung fibrosis (Table 2).

#### 3.1. Wound healing

Wound healing is a common repair process after an injury to an organ. We describe the repair of cutaneous wounds in this section. Wound healing is based on the collective efforts of soluble mediators, blood cells, extracellular matrix and parenchymal cells [51]. This process consists of three timely overlapping stages namely, inflammation, tissue formation, and tissue remodeling [51]. During the innate inflammation, immune cells including neutrophils and granulocytes in the early phase and then macrophages, lymphocytes and mast cells are recruited into the wound. These immune cells release cytokines and chemokines that recruit epithelial cells and fibroblasts to the wound edge [6]. Thereafter, epithelial cells start to stretch into the wound bed, followed by proliferating keratinocytes, which seed more cells into the wound site during re-epithelialization [6]. Parallel to re-epithelialization, granulation tissue formation is initiated which is closely associated with wound angiogenesis [6]. During this process, epithelial cells are recruited into the wound by cytokines and create the granulation tissue together with myofibroblasts and pericytes [6]. Myofibroblasts facilitate wound contraction and closure which is followed by tissue remodeling, during which myofibroblasts degrade, remodel and reorganize the ECM [6]. During the complex wound healing process, cells bind to ECM molecules within the wound via their integrin receptors resulting in integrin's functional activation or induced expression. Integrin receptors with a functional role in wound healing are listed in Table 2.

Integrin  $\beta 1$  is an important integrin because it is a subunit in many different heterodimers. Integrin  $\beta 1$  deficiency in mouse fibroblasts, correlates with reduced expression of  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), CCN2/CTGF and collagen I, and is accompanied by a reduced ability to

activate latent TGF $\beta$ , thereby inhibiting differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, resulting in delayed wound closure and reduced formation of granulation tissue [52]. Integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 has shown to be inhibitory to the fibroblast infiltration into the wound clot. Mice deficient of integrin  $\beta$ 3 showed accelerated re-epithelialization, which is associated with enhanced TGF $\beta$  signaling and dermal fibroblast infiltration into wounds [39]. Integrin  $\alpha1\beta1$  is expressed on cells of the basement membrane including vascular, visceral, endothelial, smooth muscle cells and pericytes, and on cells of the connective tissue including fibroblasts, chondrocytes, mesenchymal stem cells and circulating white blood cells [53]. The collagens that bind integrin  $\alpha1\beta1$  include collagen I, III, IV, XIII, XVI [53]. Modulating the collagen-binding integrin activity could therefore also be an interesting approach to improve the healing of chronic wounds.

Integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  is expressed on keratinocytes, epithelial cells and endothelial cells which are in contact with the basement membrane and on fibroblasts, T-cells, myeloid cells, megakaryocytes and platelets which are in contact with matrices rich in collagen I [54]. Integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  specifically binds to collagen I, III, IV, V, XI, XVI and XXIII [54]. Next to collagens, integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  also binds to the proteoglycans, biglycan, lumican, fibromodulin and decorin, and a proteolytic fragment derived from perlecan called endorepellin [54]. It has been shown that binding of fibroblasts to collagen within 3D-matrices activates p38 $\alpha$ MAP kinase pathway and results in increased integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ dependent collagenase-3 (MMP13) synthesis [54,55].

Mice deficient in  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  demonstrated minor changes in their ability to remodel granulation tissue ECM, this is likely because other collagen-binding integrins compensate for most of their function, including MMP expression and collagen fibrillogenesis [6]. Integrin  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  is expressed on basal cells of epidermis and other epithelia [56]. Conditional knockout of integrin  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  in the epidermis of mice (keratinocytes) resulted in impaired angiogenesis within wounds, which is correlated with reduced expression of the angiogenesis promoting mitogen-regulated protein 3 (MRP3) [57]. These finding suggest a role of  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  in promoting wound angiogenesis through MRP3-mediated crosstalk from epidermal to endothelial cells [57].

#### Table 2

Integrins and their function in wound healing, tumor stroma, metastasis, kidney, liver and lung fibrosis.

Integrin	Expressional modification	Function	Cell/tissue type/disease	Ref.
Wound healing β3	Genetic	Accelerated re-epithelialization, enhanced TGFB signaling, dermal fibroblast infiltration	Fibroblasts, epithelial cells	[39]
β1	knockdown Fibroblast specific	Delayed cutaneous wound closure and reduced granulation tissue formation, including	Fibroblasts	[52]
α3β1	knockout Epidermal	Impaired angiogenesis	Keratinocytes, endothelial cells	[57]
α5β1	knockout Overexpression	Interaction of overexpressed integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$ leads to T Cell driven keratinocyte	Keratinocytes	[59]
α5β1	None	proliferation Granulation tissue fibroblasts have a reduced ability to bind fibronectin via $\alpha 5\beta 1$ ,	Fibroblasts	[60]
α9	None	Increasing their migration ability Regulates migration and adhesion of dermal fibroblasts during granulation tissue	Dermal fibroblasts	[63]
αΜβ2	Genetic	Delayed wound re-epithelialization	Neutrophils, monocytes	[66]
ανβ6 ανβ6	Overexpression Genetic	Spontaneous wound development with progressive fibrosis Delayed wound healing	Epithelial cells Epithelial cells	[123] [124]
	knockdown			
ανβ5	None	Expressed in deep human and porcine wound during early re-epithelialization	Epidermis	[125]
ανβ5	None	Induced in keratinocytes during late mucosal and dermal wound healing	Keratinocytes	[126]
α2β1	Antibody blocking	Induces MMP-1 expression and collagen matrix denaturation in wounds	Keratinocytes	[127]
α5β1	Overexpression	Affects fibronectin integration and restricts keratinocyte migration	Keratinocytes	[128,129]
α11β1	Genetic knockdown	Reduced granulation tissue formation and impaired wound contraction	Fibroblasts	[65]
a361	None	Determines the migrational directionality of keratinocytes	Keratinocytes	[130]
β1	β1 deficient	Impaired migration and wound healing, $\beta 1$ deficiency is accompanied by $\alpha 6\beta 4$	Keratinocytes	[131]
α3β1	keratinocytes Genetic knockdown	downregulation Inhibits directional migration and re-epithelialization	Keratinocytes	[132]
Kidney fibrosis				
β6	Genetic	Prevents tubulointerstitial fibrosis	Kidney	[67]
α3	Genetic	Reduced neovascularization; delayed kidney fibrosis and neovascularization	Kidney	[70,71,133]
<b>α2</b> β1	Genetic	Knockdown delays the maturation of the glomerular basement membrane and kidney	Kidney	[71]
α11β1	knockdown None	fibrosis in Alport mice Crucial for the regulation of the myofibroblast phenotype	Myofibroblasts in UUO kidneys in	[72]
β6	Genetic	Knockdown inhibits renal fibrosis in Alport mice	mice and human fibrotic kidneys Kidney	[73]
ανβ1	knockdown None	blockade of $\alpha\nu\beta1$ prevents the activation of latent TGF $\beta1$ through direct binding by	Fibroblasts in the kidney	[74]
α8	Genetic knockdown	fibroblasts De novo expression in interstitial fibroblasts and tubular endothelial cells in tubulointerstitium fibrosis. Knockdown did not inhibit tubulointerstitium fibrosis. but	Fibroblasts and endothelial cells in tubulointerstitium fibrosis	[75]
α3	None	increased tubulointerstitium damage compared to wild type mice Mediates kidney fibrosis via integrin-linked kinase through mediated loss of E-cadherin	Kidnev fibrosis	[76]
Liver fibrosis		······································		[]
β <b>6</b>	Genetic knockdown	Prevents acute biliary fibrosis	Liver	[67]
α3, α6	None	Expression of these integrins indicate a switch of hepatocytes into bile duct epithelial cells	Hepatocytes in cholestasis	[77]
β1, α1, α5, α6	None	Integrin expression positively correlates with the stage of fibrosis	Liver	[78]
β1	None	Integrin expression level positively correlates with the stage of fibrosis.	Chronic hepatitis C & B. PBC. PSC	[79]
R1	None	Overexpressed on T lymphocytes	Alcoholic liver disease	[80]
	None	Expression lowels on peripheral blood lowlogutes positively correlated with liver failure	Loukogutos in livor sirrhosis	[00]
	None	Expression reversion peripheral blood reukocytes positively correlated with liver failure	Leukocytes III IIver CITTIOSIS	[02]
αμ32, α4β1	None	integrin expression correlates with inflitrating lymphocytes	Lyinphocytes in PBC	[83]
ανβ6	None	Upregulated	Biliary atresia	[84]
β2	None	Induced expression of integrin $\beta 2$ on neutrophils increases their migration and Kupffer cell release of chemotactic cytokines and growth factors	Chronic alcohol intoxication of the liver	[86]
αL	None	Indirectly promotes fibrosis	Lymphocytes in PBC	[87]
β <b>6</b>	Genetic knockdown	Knockdown inhibits neutrophil infiltration and plasma transaminase activity as well as	*	[88]
β6	Genetic	Knockdown inhibits neutrophil infiltration and plasma transaminase activity as well as	Acute cholestatic hepatitis	[89]
β1	None	Responsible for the recruitment of CD16(+) monocytes into the liver	Chronic liver inflammation and	[90]
α5β1	None	Increases collagen production via integrin $\alpha5\beta1/\text{ECM}$ induced changes in the	Hepatic stellate cells in liver	[91]
αν	Genetic knockdown	cytoskeletal organization and activation of Src kinases and ERK/JNK Protected mice from CCL4-induced liver fibrosis and was also protective in pulmonary and renal fibrosis	fibrosis Myofibroblasts	[93]

#### Table 2 (continued)

Integrin	Expressional modification	Function	Cell/tissue type/disease	Ref.
α11β1	Genetic knockdown	Major regulator in the activation of HSCs into myofibroblasts	Myofibroblasts/liver fibrosis in mice	[72]
Lung Fibrosis				
ανβ6	Genetic knockdown	Regulates pulmonary fibrosis and inflammation by activating $\text{TGF}\beta$	Epithelial cells of lung sclerosis and pulmonary fibrosis	[31]
ανβ8	Genetic knockdown	Increased pro-fibrotic differentiation of lung fibroblasts by regulating TGFβ activation. Increases the expression of collagen and pro-fibrotic genes.	COPD fibroblasts	[97–99]
ανβ5	None	Mediates TGF $\beta$ induced fibrosis.	Fibroblasts of pulmonary fibrosis	[100]
α3β1	Genetic knockdown	Knockdown correlates with reduced accumulation of myofibroblasts, collagen and EMT-associated genes	Pulmonary fibrosis	[102,103]
α11β1	none	Expression correlated concomitantly with the expression of various fibrotic parameters in the lungs of patients with IPF	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis	[72]
Tumor stroma				
α11β1	Genetic	Expression positively correlates with prognosis. Induces IGF2 expression and	Fibroblasts in lung	[49,108,110]
	knockout	tumorigenicity. Induces CXCL5 secretion by lung carcinoma cells.	adenocarcinoma	[ , , . ]
α11β1	None	Overexpressed in the tumor stroma. Expression positively correlates and co-localizes with the expression of $\alpha$ SMA	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	[105]
α5β1	None	Desmoplastic traits prognostic of neoplastic recurrence of integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$ are maintained by matrix regulated integrin $\alpha \nu \beta 5$	Cancer-associated fibroblasts in pancreatic cancer	[106]
α11β1	None	Promotes invasion	Invasive breast cancer cells	[109]
α9β1	None	Osteopontin-rich matrix activates TAMs through ligation of integrin $\alpha 9\beta 1$ , stimulating the migration of endothelial and cancer cells via prostaglandin E2 production	Melanoma model	[111]
ανβ3	None	Periostin, secreted by glioblastoma stem cells, promote TAM recruitment to tumors via integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$ signaling.	Glioblastoma xenografts	[112]
Metastasis				
α2β1	Genetic knockdown	Expression is associated with favorable prognosis and reduced tumor cell intravasation	Breast cancer, squamous cell carcinoma	[115,116]
α2β1	None	Accelerated levels increase experimental metastasis	metastasis in melanoma, gastric and colon cancer	[117–119]
ανβ5	None	Expressed in vascular structures and tumor stroma and associated with high hypoxia inducible factor $1\alpha$ indices	Brain metastasis of lung cancer	[121]
ανβ3	None	Expressed on vascular structures and associated with low Ki-67 indices	Brain metastasis of lung cancer	[121]
β1, β3	None	Overexpressed and correlate with cancer progression and metastasis in the liver.	Liver metastasis of colorectal cancer	[122]

During wound healing, fibronectin (Fn) is activated and assembled into a fibrillary structure Fn matrix that is known to be promoted by integrin  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1. Fibroblasts adhesion to the provisional matrix (composed of Fn and fibrin) via integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  in the initial stage of wound healing is enhanced when dermatopontin (a dermal ECM protein) co-localizes with fibrin and fibronectin in the wound clots [58]. Additionally, the interaction of  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 with fibronectin has shown to contribute to T-Cell lymphokine-driven keratinocyte proliferation next to facilitating matrix adhesion and motility [59]. It has been speculated that in fibroblasts, integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  plays an important role in vivo during invasion of connective tissue cells into the wound clot and their migration in the fibrin-fibronectin-containing 3D wound environment [6]. Fibroblasts in the granulation tissue have a reduced ability to bind fibronectin via integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  which might allow them to migrate in the early fibronectin-rich granulation tissue matrix [60]. Blocking of integrin  $\alpha$ 5 with antibodies in vitro in human oral mucosa and dermal fibroblasts were capable of blocking TGF $\beta$ -induced expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA [61]. This finding implies that novel therapeutic approaches targeting integrin  $\alpha 5$  could present a strategy to inhibit  $\alpha$ -SMA positive myofibroblasts which are closely associated with scar formation and various other pathological disorders.

In literature, increased integrin  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  expression is shown to induce retarded wound re-epithelialization, as shown in  $\alpha 9\beta 1$ -deficient mice [6]. Furthermore, integrin  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  controls proliferation of keratinocytes and dermal fibroblast by interacting with elastic microfibril interfacelocated protein 1 (EMILIN1) [62]. Additionally, blocking of integrin  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  on integrin-positive dermal fibroblasts with a specific antibody inhibited the formation of granulation tissue in cutaneous wound healing, showing that integrin  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  is involved in the formation of granulation tissue by regulating the migration and adhesion of dermal fibroblasts in excisional wounds [63].

Integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  expression has also been shown to be expressed restrictively to a subset of fibroblasts and mesenchymal stem cells in vivo [54] and is the main collagen receptor on dermal fibroblasts, contributing to collagen remodeling in a TGF<sub>B</sub>-dependent manner [64]. Zweers *et al.* were the first to demonstrate the role for integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  in dermal wound healing, in which  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  is strongly induced in mice after inflicting excisional wounds [65]. Dermal wounds in integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  deficient mice showed a reduction in granulation tissue formation and wound strength 7 days after excisional wound infliction, which is attributed to a defect in myofibroblasts differentiation, indicating  $\alpha 11\beta 1$ dependent collagen remodeling within granulation tissue [64]. Next to its role in collagen remodeling, integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$ , similar to integrin  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1, is involved in myofibroblast differentiation and granulation tissue formation, as a response to injury, and thereby contributes to scar formation. This implies integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  as a potential therapeutic target and it would be of very high interest to investigate the effects of therapeutic blocking of this integrin in the context of myofibroblast differentiation during scar formation and pathological fibrosis in general.

In addition to fibroblasts and epithelial cells, integrins play a key role in immune cells such as neutrophils, monocytes and certain lymphocytes. Integrin  $\alpha$ M $\beta$ 2 is a leukocyte receptor which is involved in immune cell recruitment and the activation of inflammatory responses during wound healing [66]. Integrin  $\alpha$ M $\beta$ 2 is capable of engaging various ligands including ECM proteins, counter receptors as intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and coagulation and complement products. Ligand binding by integrin  $\alpha$ M $\beta$ 2 affects leukocyte adhesion and activation [66]. Knockout of integrin  $\alpha$ M $\beta$ 2 in mice has been shown to be correlated with a delay in wound re-epithelialization and granulation tissue formation but did not affect monocyte migration into the wound [66].

#### 3.2. Fibrosis

In general, fibrosis is a response to organ injury and progressive fibrosis can lead to major organ failure and ultimately lethality [3,67]. Organ fibrosis is characterized by a complex interplay between inflammatory, epithelial, myofibroblast, and excessive ECM production and deposition [3,67]. The highly dynamic pericellular ECM of the fibrotic tissue exerts profound influences on the behavior of the surrounding cells [3]. Many of the main cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions that regulate fibrosis are mediated by integrins [3]. The expression and function of integrins in kidney, liver and lung fibrosis are described in the following section and is listed in Table 2.

#### 3.2.1. Kidney fibrosis

Integrins  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ , the major collagen binding receptors, and laminin receptors  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 6\beta 1$  are highly expressed in the healthy kidney [68]. Integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  binds to collagen IV, and deletion or inhibition of  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  exacerbates glomerulosclerosis suggesting that activation of  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  integrin might be beneficial for renal injury [69]. In contrast to Integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ , integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  is a positive regulator of collagen synthesis and reactive oxygen species production. Studies propose that Integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  induces glomerular fibrosis and absence of  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  delays kidney fibrosis and glomerular injury in experimental models for kidney disease [70,71]. Knockdown of the discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1) and integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  delays the maturation of the glomerular basement membrane, which causes renal fibrosis in the Col4A3 deficient-/- mice, a mouse model of Alport syndrome [71]. Additionally, in Col4A3 deficient-/- Alport mice with impaired glomerular basement membrane, maturation loss of integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  delays kidney fibrosis [71]. An additional collagen binding integrin, integrin subunit  $\alpha$ 11 is specifically localized on myofibroblasts in UUO kidneys of mice and human fibrotic kidneys was found to be crucial for the regulation of the myofibroblast phenotype [72]. Moreover, its expression was significantly induced at an interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy score of 3, when compared to score 0-2 [72]. In Alport mice with a conditional knockdown of integrin  $\beta$ 6, renal fibrosis was inhibited [73]. Furthermore, knockdown of integrin  $\beta$ 6 partly or completely protects mice from tubulointerstitial fibrosis induced by kidney obstruction [67].

The expression of integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta1$ ,  $\alpha\nu\beta3$  and  $\alpha\nu\beta5$  was also identified on renal fibroblasts and blockade of  $\alpha\nu\beta1$  prevented the activation of latent TGF $\beta1$  through direct binding by fibroblasts [74].

While in the healthy kidney, integrin  $\alpha 8$  is only expressed in mesangial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells, de-novo expression of integrin  $\alpha 8$  was found on interstitial fibroblasts and tubular epithelial cells undergoing de-differentiation in tubulointerstitial fibrosis induced by the unilateral ureteral obstruction model [75]. Furthermore, studies in mice with knockdown of integrin  $\alpha 8$  revealed that underexpression of  $\alpha 8$  did not inhibit tubulointerstitial fibrosis, but increased tubulointerstitium damage compared to wild type mice [75]. Therefore, targeting integrin  $\alpha 8$  threapeutically does not seem to be a useful antifibrotic strategy.

Moreover, integrin  $\alpha$ 3 has shown to induce kidney damage attributed to loss of E-cadherin induced by integrin  $\alpha$ 3-dependent Src/p- $\beta$ -catenin-Y654/p-Smad2-mediated up-regulation of integrin-linked kinase [76].

In summary, integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ ,  $\alpha 3$  and  $\alpha 8$  have been identified to play a role in kidney fibrosis. Inhibiting integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  and  $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ in kidney fibrosis seems to have high potential as a therapy, while induction of integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and integrin  $\alpha 3$ , via e.g. an RNAi approach, also seems to have therapeutic potential.

#### 3.2.2. Liver fibrosis

In healthy liver, different integrins are expressed on various cell types controlling specific functions to maintain homeostasis. Vascular endothelium expresses many integrins such as  $\alpha 1$ , 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6; bile duct epithelium express integrin  $\alpha 2$ , 3, 5 and 6; stroma of the connective tissue integrin  $\alpha 1$  and 2; hepatocytes integrin  $\alpha 1$  and 5; sinusoidal lining cells integrin  $\alpha$ 1, 2, and 5; and mononuclear cells integrin  $\alpha$ 4 [77]. During liver pathogenesis, the altered expression levels and de novo expression of integrins have been reported in preclinical and clinical studies. Nejjari et al. performed a clinical study including 94 patients with chronic hepatitis C, in which the expression of integrin  $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 1,  $\alpha$ 5 and  $\alpha$ 6 was significantly upregulated and showed correlation with the stage of fibrosis [78]. In a different study, integrin  $\beta$ 6 was shown to correlate with the stage of fibrosis in the livers of patients with end-stage liver disease, including chronic hepatitis B & C, primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) and primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) [79]. Mice with integrin  $\beta$ 6 knockdown or blocking antibody to  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 6 significantly decreased acute biliary fibrosis after bile duct ligation [67]. In patients with alcoholic liver disease, integrin B1 was significantly overexpressed on T lymphocytes (and/or hepatocytes) when compared with healthy patients [80,81]. In liver cirrhosis, integrin  $\alpha L$ ,  $\alpha M$ ,  $\alpha X$  and  $\alpha 4$  expression levels on peripheral blood leukocytes was positively correlated with liver failure [82]. During cholestasis, the hepatocytes show de novo expression of integrin  $\alpha$ 3 and  $\alpha$ 6, indicating that they undergo a phenotypic switch from hepatocytes to bile duct epithelium [77]. In PBC, integrin  $\alpha L\beta 2$  (lymphocyte function associated antigen 1 (LFA-1)) and  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  (very late antigen 1 (VLA-4)) were found to be expressed on infiltrating lymphocytes, while control livers showed no or weak expression of these integrins [83].

In addition to these clinical studies, integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$  was found to be upregulated in rotavirus-induced biliary atresia, resulting in liver fibrosis [84]. Rats with a chronic alcohol intoxication showed an induced expression of integrin  $\beta$ 2 on neutrophils, which increased their migration (most probably mediated by osteopontin via  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  integrins [85]) and Kupffer cells mediated release of chemotactic cytokines and growth factors [86]. Moreover, in PBC, integrin  $\alpha$ L (CD11a) was found to be expressed on T lymphocytes but is absent in chronic hepatitis C or healthy patients, indicating a role of CD4+ integrin  $\alpha$ L expressing lymphocytes in Th-1 predominance and might thereby indirectly promote fibrosis [87]. Mice with an integrin β2 knockout showed reduction in hepatic necrosis, decreased number of intrahepatic neutrophils and plasma transaminase activity during acute and chronic cholestatic liver injury [88,89]. In chronic liver inflammation and fibrogenesis, integrin B1, activated by vascular adhesion protein-1 and CX<sub>3</sub> chemokine receptor 1 has been proposed to be responsible for the recruitment of CD16(+) monocytes into the liver [90]. Activation of HSCs increased the expression of integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ , and  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ /ECM crosstalk induced collagen production via changes in the cytoskeletal organization, and activation of Src kinases and ERK/JNK signaling molecule families [91]. Expression of integrin  $\alpha 8\beta 1$  is induced in activated HSCs following bile duct ligation or CCl<sub>4</sub> induced hepatic injury in rats [92]. Genetic knockdown (Pdgfrb-Cre) of integrin av, protected mice from CCL4induced liver fibrosis and was also protective in pulmonary and renal fibrosis [93]. Very recently, Bansal et al. [72], have identified integrin subunit  $\alpha 11$  as a major regulator in the activation of HSCs into myofibroblasts. Knockdown of integrin subunit  $\alpha$ 11 in HSCs inhibited their differentiation and functionality in response to TGF- $\beta$  [72]. Integrin subunit  $\alpha 11$  expression was found to be regulated by the hedgehog pathway and inhibition of hedgehog led to inhibition of HSC induced fibrosis in mice. This work highlights integrin subunit  $\alpha 11$  as a highly promising therapeutic target in liver fibrosis [72].

#### 3.2.3. Lung fibrosis

Integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$ , a receptor for the ECM proteins fibronectin [94] and tenascin C [36] is minimally expressed in alveolar epithelial tissues but is highly induced upon lung injury, resulting in lung fibrosis [95].

Integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$  has been demonstrated to be overexpressed in the epithelium of lung sclerosis and pulmonary fibrosis [67]. Genetic knockdown of integrin  $\beta$ 6 in mice was introduced to attenuate bleomycininduced pulmonary fibrosis and radiation induced pulmonary fibrosis [31,67]. Recently, integrin  $\alpha 6\beta 1$ , upregulated in fibrotic lung myofibroblasts, was identified as a mechanosensor for matrix stiffness, [96]. Upon sensing matrix stiffening during pulmonary fibrosis  $\alpha 6\beta 1$ mediates MMP-2 dependent pericellular proteolysis of basement membrane collagen IV, thereby regulating invasion of myofibroblasts [96]. The expression of integrin  $\alpha v\beta 8$  is highly expressed in the airways of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients and correlates with the severity of the obstruction [98,99]. Additionally, COPD fibroblasts show increased pro-fibrogenic differentiation upon  $\alpha v\beta 8$  mediated TGF $\beta$ 1 activation [97,98]. Knockdown of  $\alpha v\beta$ 8 in murine lung fibroblasts reduced TGF<sub>B</sub>-activation in these cells [99]. Deletion of  $\alpha v\beta 8$  in lung fibroblasts resulted in inhibition of airway fibrosis in IL-1B and ovalbumin-induced mouse models [99]. Additionally, the authors demonstrated that IL-1 $\beta$  increased  $\alpha v\beta$ 8-dependent TGF $\beta$  activation, collagen expression and pro-inflammatory gene expression in human COPD compared to normal human lung fibroblasts [99]. In patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, integrin  $\alpha v\beta 5$  causes TGF $\beta$ mediated fibrosis and co-localizes with PAR1 (Protease-activated receptors) and the myofibroblast marker  $\alpha$ SMA [100]. This process is inhibited by the blockade of integrin  $\alpha v\beta 5$  in mice [100]. Kim *et al.* showed that in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF), alveolar epithelial cells undergo extracellular matrix triggered EMT, thereby turning into differentiating fibroblasts [101]. In an IPF mouse model with a lung specific deletion of integrin  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  reduced accumulation of myofibroblasts, collagen and genes associated with EMT were observed [102,103]. Integrin subunit  $\alpha$ 11 was in an additional study found to be significantly induced in the fibrotic lungs from patients with IPF were it co-localizes with  $\alpha$ -SMA-positive myofibroblasts [72]. In addition, the expression of integrin subunit  $\alpha 11$  correlated concomitantly with the expression of various fibrotic parameters in the lungs of patients with IPF [72].

#### 3.3. Tumor stroma

The tumor stroma consists of non-cancerous cells including cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), pericytes, endothelial cells, and infiltrating immune cells [104]. More recently, stromal cells have been identified as drivers of tumorigenesis, promoting tumor growth, angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis [104]. Integrins that were found to be expressed in these cell types and their functional roles in the stroma are discussed in the following section and listed in Table 2.

Integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  have been reported to be the main integrins expressed on fibroblasts within the tumor stroma [105,106]. Integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  was found to be induced in a mechano-sensitive manner and contributes to TGF<sub>β</sub>-dependent myofibroblasts differentiation in vitro [107]. A role for integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  in tumorigenesis was first observed in lung adenocarcinoma in which  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  was identified as a tumor biomarker [108]. Specifically, integrin  $\alpha 11\beta$  was found to be overexpressed in the tumor stromal tissue of lung adenocarcinoma, where it induces IGF2 expression and tumorigenicity [49]. Furthermore, Integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  is overexpressed in the tumor stroma of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and its expression positively correlates and co-localizes with the expression of  $\alpha$ SMA, a myofibroblast marker with prognostic value in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma [105]. Additionally, the gene encoding for integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  (ITGA11), next to six other genes, was found to promote invasion, in a spheroid based model for the invasion of breast cancer cells [109]. Moreover, integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  plays a role in the paracrine signaling between fibroblasts and cancer cells within tumor stroma. A study using 3Dheterospheroids composed of mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and A549 lung carcinoma cells showed that CXCL5 expression in tumor cells was inversely related to integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  in MEFs, indicating that integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  increases the autocrine secretion of CXCL5 by lung carcinoma cells [110]. Franco-Barraza *et al.* have very recently introduced that desmoplastic traits, prognostic of neoplastic recurrence, dependent on integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ , expressed on myofibroblasts in pancreatic cancer, are maintained by matrix-regulated integrin  $\alpha v\beta 5$  [106]. In this work, the author's identified a CAF phenotype, with high expression of active integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ . Finally they propose a novel prognostic tool, in which they use stromal localization and levels of active Smad 2/3 and integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  to distinguish patient-protective from patient-dentrimental desmoplasia, to foretell pancreatic cancer recurrence.

In addition to fibroblasts, integrins on macrophages also play a key role in tumor stroma. A recent study has implicated integrins in regulating the ability of TAMs to promote tumor progression. For example, in a melanoma model, an osteopontin-rich matrix activates TAMs through ligation of integrin  $\alpha 9\beta 1$ , stimulating the migration of endothelial and cancer cells via prostaglandin E2 production [111]. Similarly, the ECM protein periostin, secreted by glioblastoma stem cells, promotes TAM recruitment to tumors via activation of  $\alpha \nu \beta 3$  [112].

These studies indicate that integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  and  $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ play a crucial role in the tumor stroma by controlling the phenotype and behavior of key stromal cells. The integrins  $\alpha 11\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 9\beta 1$  and  $\alpha \nu \beta 3$  show potential as therapeutic targets. In the context of drug delivery integrin  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  presents as a target with high potential, since the expression of this integrin is restricted to tumor stroma or other fibrotic disease but is generally not expressed in other tissues of the adult body. The design of novel integrin targeting ligands is therefore a highly interesting approach for drug delivery to CAFs.

#### 3.4. Metastasis

Metastasis, which is defined as the spreading of cells from the primary tumor site to other organs is responsible for more than 90% of cancer-related lethality [113]. Integrins, are regulators of cell attachment to the ECM as well as cell migration and therefore have a crucial part in the regulation of metastasis [114].

Integrin  $\alpha 2$  is widely expressed which makes it difficult to determine its function during tumorigenesis. High expression of integrin  $\alpha 2$  in breast and prostate cancer correlates with a favorable prognosis [115]. Additionally, MMTV-neu mice lacking integrin  $\alpha 2$  expression had increased tumor cell intravasation indicating that integrin  $\alpha 2$  has metastasis suppressing properties [115]. Additionally, integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  expression causes a decrease in lymph node metastasis in human papilloma virus-induced squamous cell carcinoma in mice [116]. In contradiction, elevated levels of integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  accelerated experimental metastasis in melanoma, gastric and colon cancer [117–119]. Moreover, integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  rich xenograft tumors, in mice have shown to promote metastasis to the bone [120].

The role of integrin  $\alpha 2$  in tumorigenesis and metastasis is not yet clarified and appears to be dependent on expression levels and the tumor type [54]. Zeltz and Gullberg [54] hypothesized that high expression of integrin  $\alpha 2$  in well-differentiated tumors might prevent metastasis, while tumors at other stages with low integrin  $\alpha 2$  expression might support dedifferentiation and metastasis by directing metastasizing cells to collagen rich tissues, such as bone. In summary, integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  could be further exploited as a biomarker. Since studies in integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  additionally presents a potential therapeutic target to attenuate metastasis, but this strategy seems only applicable for not-well-differentiated tumors with low collagen expression.

In a clinical study including lung cancer patients with brain metastases (BM), high expression of integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta5$  on vascular structures and tumor stroma (in BM) was found to be associated with high hypoxia inducible factor  $1\alpha$  (HIF $1\alpha$ ) indices, while  $\alpha\nu\beta3$  was expressed on vascular structures and tumor cells (in BM) and was correlated with low Ki-67 indices [121]. Although it would be of high interest to see what effects new therapeutic agents against  $\alpha\nu\beta5$  might have on the

#### Table 3

Therapeutics for integrin inhibition in development.

$\alpha v$ -Family integrinsPhase I (200)Endothelial cellsBreast, lung and colon cancer[135] $\alpha v\beta 3$ EtaracizumabPhase I (2005, 2008)Endothelial cellsSeveral solid tumors[136,137] $\alpha v\beta 3$ EtaracizumabPhase II (2010)Endothelial cellsMetastatic melanoma[138] $\alpha v$ CTNO 95Phase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[140] $\alpha v$ CTNO 95Phase I (2015)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141] $\alpha v\beta 3$ , $\alpha v\beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2006)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141] $\alpha v\beta 3$ , $\alpha v\beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[142] $\alpha v\beta 3$ , $\alpha v\beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142] $\alpha v\beta 3$ , $\alpha v\beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142] $\alpha v\beta 3$ , $\alpha v\beta 5$ , $\alpha v\beta 1$ C8Pre-clinicalCancer-associated fibroblastsLiver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney[74,146] $\alpha v\beta 1$ C8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146] $\alpha v\beta 1$ c8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146] $\alpha v\beta 1$ c8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146] $\alpha v\beta 1$ c8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmona	
$\alpha \nu \beta 3$ VitaxinPhase I (2000)Endothelial cellsBreast, lung and colon cancer[135] $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ EtaracizumabPhase I (2005, 2008)Endothelial cellsSeveral solid tumors[136,137] $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ EtaracizumabPhase II (2010)Endothelial cellsMetastatic melanoma[138] $\alpha \nu$ CTNO 95Phase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[140] $\alpha \nu$ CTNO 95Phase I (2015)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141] $\alpha \nu$ CTNO 95Phase I (2006)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141] $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ , $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[142] $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ , $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142] $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ , $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142] $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ , $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ , $\alpha \nu \beta 1$ ClengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsMalignant glioma, glioblastoma[143,144,1] $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ , $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ , $\alpha \nu \beta 1$ C8Pre-clinicalCancer-associated fibroblastsLiver fibrosis, kidney[74,146] $\beta \mu rase II (2014)$ Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146] $\alpha \nu \beta 1$ c8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146] $\beta \mu rase IIPre-clinicalActivated fibroblasts$	
$\alpha v \beta 3$ EtaracizumabPhase I (2005, 2008)Endothelial cellsSeveral solid tumors[136, 137] $\alpha v \beta 3$ EtaracizumabPhase II (2010)Endothelial cellsMetastatic melanoma[138] $\alpha v$ CTNO 95Phase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[140] $\alpha v$ CTNO 95Phase I (2015)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141] $\alpha v \beta 3$ CTNO 95Phase I (2006)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141] $\alpha v \beta 3$ CilengitidePhase I (2006)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[142] $\alpha v \beta 3$ , $\alpha v \beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142] $\alpha v \beta 3$ , $\alpha v \beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142] $\alpha v \beta 3$ , $\alpha v \beta 5$ , $\alpha v \beta 1$ CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsMalignant glioma, glioblastoma[143,144,1] $\alpha v \beta 3$ , $\alpha v \beta 5$ , $\alpha v \beta 1$ C8Pre-clinicalCancer-associated fibroblastsLiver fibrosis, kidney[74,146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ C8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146] $\beta trackPre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146]\beta trackPre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsCCL dividuced liver fibrosis[03,162]$	
$\alpha \eta \beta 3$ EtaracizumabPhase II (2010)Endothelial cellsMetastatic melanoma[138] $\alpha v$ CTNO 95Phase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[139] $\alpha v$ CTNO 95Phase II (2013)Endothelial and tumor cellsCastration-resistant prostate cancer[140] $\alpha v$ CTNO 95Phase I (2015)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141] $\alpha v \beta 3$ , $\alpha v \beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2006)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142] $\alpha v \beta 3$ , $\alpha v \beta 5$ CilengitidePhase I (2008)Phase II (2014)Malignant glioma, glioblastoma[143,144,1 $\alpha v \beta 1$ C8Pre-clinicalCancer-associated fibroblastsLiver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney fibrosis[74,146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis, carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis[146] $\alpha v \alpha v \alpha = 0$ CWHM 12Pre-clinicalCancer cancer[137] $\alpha v \alpha = 0$ Current cancer[146][146] $\alpha v \beta = 0$ Pre-clinical[146] <tr< td=""><td></td></tr<>	
ανCTNO 95Phase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[139]ανCTNO 95Phase II (2013)Endothelial and tumor cellsCastration-resistant prostate cancer[140]ανβ3, ανβ5CilengitidePhase I (2006)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[141]ανβ3, ανβ5CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsSeveral solid tumors[142]ανβ3, ανβ5CilengitidePhase I (2007)Endothelial and tumor cellsProstate cancer[142]ανβ3, ανβ5CilengitidePhase II (2008)Phase II (2014)Malignant glioma, glioblastoma[143,144,1ανβ1C8Pre-clinicalCancer-associated fibroblastsLiver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney fibrosis[74,146]ανβ1c8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis, carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis[146]ανβ1c8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsCCI4/4induced liver fibrosis[146]ανβ1c8Pre-clinical[146][146][146]ανβ1c8Pre-clinical[146][146]ανβ1c8Pre-clinical[146][146][146][147][146]<	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
ανβ3, ανβ5       Cilengitide       Phase II (2006)       Endothelial and tumor cells       Prostate cancer       [142]         ανβ3, ανβ5, ανβ1       Cilengitide       Phase I (2007)       Endothelial and tumor cells       Prostate cancer       [143,144,1]         νβ3, ανβ5, ανβ1       Cilengitide       Phase I (2007)       Endothelial and tumor cells       Malignant glioma, glioblastoma       [143,144,1]         ανβ1       C8       Pre-clinical       Cancer-associated fibroblasts       Liver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney       [74,146]         ανβ1       c8       Pre-clinical       Activated fibroblasts       Bleomycin-induced pulmonary       [146]         fibrosis, carbon       tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis       Presclinical       CCl 4-induced liver fibrosis       [142]	
ανβ3, ανβ5, ανβ1     Cilengitide     Phase I (2007) Phase II (2008) Phase III (2014)     Endothelial and tumor cells     Malignant glioma, glioblastoma     [143,144,1]       ανβ1     C8     Pre-clinical     Cancer-associated fibroblasts     Liver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney fibrosis     [74,146]       ανβ1     c8     Pre-clinical     Activated fibroblasts     Bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis, carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis     [146]       ανμ     CWHM 12     Pre-clinical     Concer-associated fibroblasts     Bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis, carbon     [143,144,1]	
Phase II (2008)       Phase III (2014) $\alpha v \beta 1$ C8       Pre-clinical       Cancer-associated fibroblasts       Liver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney fibrosis, kidney fibrosis       [74,146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8       Pre-clinical       Activated fibroblasts       Bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis       [146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8       Pre-clinical       Activated fibroblasts       Bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis       [146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8       Pre-clinical       Column (100)       [146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8       Pre-clinical       Column (100)       [146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8       Pre-clinical       Column (100)       [146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8       Pre-clinical       Column (100)       [146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ c8       Pre-clinical       [160]       [160]	80]
Phase III (2014)Cancer-associated fibroblastsLiver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney[74,146] $\alpha v \beta 1$ C8Pre-clinicalActivated fibroblastsBleomycin-induced pulmonary[146]fibrosis, carbontetrachloride-induced liver fibrosisIterachloride-induced liver fibrosis[146] $\alpha v \mu$ CWHM 12Pre-clinicalConcertained fibroblastsConcertained fibroblasts[146] $\alpha v \mu$ CWHM 12Pre-clinicalConcertained fibroblasts[161]	
ανβ1     C8     Pre-clinical     Cancer-associated fibroblasts     Liver fibrosis, lung fibrosis, kidney     [74,146]       ανβ1     c8     Pre-clinical     Activated fibroblasts     Bleomycin-induced pulmonary     [146]       fibrosis, carbon     tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis     [193,162]	
ανβ1     c8     Pre-clinical     Activated fibroblasts     Bleomycin-induced pulmonary     [146]       fibrosis, carbon     fibrosis, carbon     tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis       αν     CWHM 12     Pre-clinical     CCI 4-induced liver fibrosis	
fibrosis, carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis CQL4.induced liver fibrosis [93,162]	
cvv CWHM 12 Pre-clinical CCL4 induced liver fibrosis [93,162]	
av CW/HM 12 Pre-clinical CCL4-induced liver fibrosis [93,162]	
bleomycin-induced lung hbrosis,	
cerulein-induced pancreatic hbrosis	
ανίζε           Ατίτ-ανίζε         - πΑb           Pre-clinical           Ατίται cells, pancreatic stellate           Lung fibrosis, liver           [/3,148-1]	1]
cells nbrosis, renai nbrosis, kidney nbrosis	
avp5 P1ro Pre-clinical Kuney infrobiasis, oral / [155]	
norobasts, definition introduces (	
fibrobiasts, terman / [155]	
αν/26 STX-100 Phase II (2017) / Pulmonary fibrosis [152]	
wy63 Anti-wy63-mAb Pre-clinical Endothelial cells Human wound tissue [156]	
wy86 EMD527040 Pre-clinical Bile duct enithelial cells Mdr2 liver fibrosis [79157]	
(Abcb4)(-/-) mic with	
spontaneous biliary fibrosis	
$\alpha\nu\beta3, \alpha\nu\beta6$ ACDCRGDCFC-(KLAKLAK) <sub>2</sub> Pre-clinical Endothelial cells / [158]	
ανβ3         Echistatin, αν RNAi, antiβ3         Pre-clinical         Hepatic stellate cells         Liver fibrosis         [159]	
$\alpha\nu\beta3, \alpha\nu\beta5$ Cilengitide Pre-clinical Hepatic stellate cells Experimental liver fibrosis [160]	
$\alpha v$ Anti-integrin alpha V Pre-clinical Hepatic stellate cells Liver fibrosis [161]	
working integrins which is a finite set of the set of t	
apprint voicekinab in ase in (ascontinuea, 2000 2011) Endotricular ecus or anama cancer, periori ancer in asceric cancer renal cancer	
costa Volociximab Phase I (discontinued 2008 2013) Endothelial cells Advanced solid malignancies [163 169]	
non-small-cell lung cancer	
α5β1 RGD Pre-clinical Hepatic stellate cells Liver cirrhosis [171]	
α5β1 PF-4605412 (Mab) Phase I (discontinued, 2013) Endothelial cells Solid malignancies [170]	
$\alpha\nu\beta3, \alpha5\beta1$ ATN-161 Pre-clinical Endothelial cells Breast cancer [172]	
$\alpha\nu\beta3, \alpha5\beta1$ ATN-161 Phase I (2006) Endothelial cells Solid tumors [173]	
C2-Failing integrins	
Construction         Construction<	
pr         Object         reclinical         Endothelial cells         Giobastoria         [176]           \(\alpha\)161         Objectstatin         Pre-clinical         Endothelial cells         Ling cancer         [177]	
$\alpha$ L, $\alpha$ M and $\beta$ 2-Family integrins	
αLβ2Anti-LFA-1 antibodyPre-clinicalLeukocytesLiver fibrosis[178]	
αM         Anti-Cullb antibody         Pre-clinical         Monocytes         Liver infection         [179]           02         1112         Pre-clinical         Monocytes         Liver infection         [179]	
\$2IF12Pre-clinicalNeutrophils in the liverExperimental alcoholic hepatitis[86]	

expression of HIF1 $\alpha$  in BM, it could be argued that  $\alpha v$  integrins are not a feasible therapeutic target, because blocking of these integrins could be associated with severe side effects, due to their wide expression in the human body. The expression of  $\alpha v$  integrins is still of pathological and clinical relevance in lung cancer patients with brain metastasis and it might be interesting to explore them as biomarkers.

In colorectal cancer, CD98, integrin  $\beta$ 1,  $\beta$ 3 and FAK was overexpressed and correlated with cancer progression and metastasis in the liver [122]. Direct contact between the tumor stroma and tumor cells is required for these markers to be over-expressed in metastasis of the liver [122].

In summary, integrins seem to play a crucial role in the regulation of metastasis within certain tumors. Especially integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  has, dependent on tumor stage and type, potential as a therapeutic target in metastasis, while integrin  $\alpha v\beta 3$ ,  $\alpha v\beta 5$ ,  $\beta 1$  and  $\beta 3$  should be validated for their use as biomarkers. Unfortunately, none of the integrins discussed show a very specific expression in pathological tissues, but are widely expressed, which makes these integrins poor targets for drug targeting.

#### 4. Therapies based on integrins inhibition

Various different integrins have been identified to play a role in fibrosis and their knockdown or blocking has been shown to dampen disease progression. An example of a clinically approved integrin inhibitor is the integrin  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  inhibitor vedolizumab, selectively inhibiting lymphocyte trafficking, which is applied as a treatment in Crohn's disease [134]. Therefore integrin-specific inhibitors have a huge potential as anti-fibrotic therapeutics. An overview of therapies (pre-clinical and clinical) based on integrin inhibition are described in the following section and are summarized in Table 3.

#### 5. αv-Family integrins

The majority of integrin targeting drugs tested in clinical trials inhibit  $\alpha v$  integrins. In the context of this review, it is important to realize that  $\alpha v$  integrins are generally expressed in the blood vessels and various other endothelial tissues and in the case of cancer, these drugs may target tumor cells, next to angiogenic vessels of the tumor microenvironment. Although integrins are abundantly present on tumor cells, in this review we focus on tumor stromal cells and we therefore only mention integrin  $\alpha v$  inhibiting therapies, which clearly demonstrated effects on these cells.

An antibody, so-called, vitaxin against  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3, which was later evolved into etaracizumab was tested in phase I and II clinical trials with low toxicity. Therapeutic efficacy but no immunogenicity was observed after treatment with etaracizumab in metastatic melanoma and other solid tumors. However, further development of etaracizumab was terminated based on the results of a randomized clinical trial in which its efficacy was compared to standard chemotherapy showing no meaningful improvement [135–138].

Another antibody against  $\alpha v\beta 3$  and  $\alpha v\beta 5$ , CTNO 95, has been tested in phase I clinical trials in advanced solid tumors showing anti-tumor activity and no toxicity [139]. Hereupon, CTNO 95 together with docetaxel and prednisolone was evaluated in a multicenter phase II clinical trial for safety and efficacy in patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer in which CTNO 95 caused a shorter progression free survival without showing additional toxicity compared to placebo treatment [140]. Later CNTO 95 was tested in combination with bevacizumab in a phase I biomarker study in patients with advanced solid tumors, could be administered safely and resulted in changes of the plasma levels of soluble endoglin, soluble E-cadherin, and soluble E-selectin as well as PIGF and VEGF-D, all proteins which interact with the ECM [141]. The selective  $\alpha v\beta 3$ and  $\alpha v\beta 5$  blocker cilengitide, based on the cyclic RGD peptide was successfully tested in phase I and II clinical trials for lung cancer, prostate cancer and glioblastoma but failed to enhance the survival benefit in patients when cilengitide was given in addition to the standard of care therapy [142-145]. Using a small molecule inhibitor for integrin  $\alpha v\beta 1$ , Reed et al. [146] found that  $\alpha v\beta 1$  directly binds to the latency-associated peptide of TGFB1, thereby mediating TGFB activation. Administration of this small molecule inhibitor showed therapeutic efficacy by attenuating bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis and carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis but has not been evaluated in clinical trials [146].

Antibody mediated blocking of the TGF $\beta$  activating integrin  $\alpha v\beta 6$ has shown therapeutic activity in a wide range of pre-clinical fibrosis models. These models include models for lung fibrosis [147,148], liver fibrosis [149,150] and renal fibrosis [73,151]. A humanized monoclonal antibody, STX-100 (BG00011), against  $\alpha v\beta 6$  is currently being tested in phase 2 clinical trials in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [152]. Genetic knockdown of β6 and functional antibody blocking of  $\alpha v\beta 6$  in renal fibrosis attenuates the accumulation of activated fibroblasts and interstitial collagen matrix deposition [73]. Treatment of scleroderma fibroblasts with antibodies against integrin  $\alpha v\beta 3$  and  $\alpha v\beta 5$  reduced the expression of procollagen type I [33,34,40,153,154]. Antibody mediated blocking of the integrins  $\alpha v\beta 3$  and  $\alpha v\beta 5$  inhibits myofibroblast differentiation in oral and dermal fibroblasts in vitro, while the inhibition of differentiation of kidney fibroblasts was only achieved with antibody blocking of  $\alpha v\beta 3$  [155]. A monoclonal antibody against  $\alpha v\beta 3$  blocked fibroblast growth factor (FGF), tumor necrosis factor-alpha and human melanoma fragments induced angiogenesis in human wound granulation tissue [156]. A small molecule inhibitor of  $\alpha v\beta 6$  (EMD527040) inhibited bile duct proliferation and peribiliary collagen deposition, decreased the expression of pro-fibrotic and induced fibrolytic genes [157]. In Mdr2 (Abcb4)(-/-) mice with spontaneous biliary liver fibrosis, a single dose of a selective  $\alpha v\beta 6$  inhibitor significantly induced profibrolytic MMP-8 & -9, and showed downregulation of the fibrosis markers procollagen  $\alpha$ 1, TGF $\beta$ 2 and MMP-2 [79].

The integrins  $\alpha\nu\beta3$  and  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  targeting peptide ACDCRGDCFC has been conjugated to the pro-apoptotic antimicrobial synthetic peptide (KLAKLAK)<sub>2</sub> and has shown selective toxicity to angiogenic endothelial cells, by disrupting their mitochondrial membranes, and showed anticancer activity in mice [158].

Hepatic stellate cells, precursors of liver myofibroblasts, are one of the major sources of ECM production in liver fibrosis, which makes them a target for anti-fibrotic therapeutics. Zhou *et al.* found that inhibition of integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 with neutralizing antibodies, echistatin or small inhibitory RNA to silence the  $\alpha\nu$  subunit expression, decreased proliferation of hepatic stellate cells [159]. More recently, the  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 inhibitor Cilengitide was used to treat liver fibrosis in rat, induced by bile duct ligation (BDL) or thioacetamide (TAA) injections, and resulted in a significant decrease of liver fibrosis and collagen deposition, but increased experimental liver fibrosis (~30%) [160]. By blocking both ICAM-1 and integrin  $\alpha\nu$  on hepatic stellate cells, phagocytosis of fibrosis promoting lymphocytes, a process mediated through members of the Rho family (Cdc42 or Rac-1) and leading to the activation of hepatic stellate cells was completely prevented [161].

Genetic knockdown and blocking of integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  with antibodies prevented radiation–induced pulmonary fibrosis [148] and hepatic fibrosis induced by biliary obstruction in mice [149]. The small molecule inhibitor C8 binding to  $\alpha\nu\beta1$  in picomolar concentrations, significantly inhibited liver and lung fibrosis in mice, reducing collagen deposition by approximately 50% [146]. In a renal unilateral obstruction model, administration of C8 inhibited collagen deposition and effectively attenuated renal failure [74]. Another small molecule inhibitor blocking  $\alpha\nu$ , CWHM 12, attenuated CCl4-induced liver fibrosis, bleomycin–induced lung fibrosis as well as cerulein-induced pancreatic fibrosis in mice [93,162]. Although, most therapeutic approaches inhibiting integrins are directed against  $\alpha\nu$  there are only a handful of compounds which have made it to clinical trials and those have failed to show improved therapeutic efficacy, which might be related to off-target binding of these inhibitor due to the wide expression of integrin subunit  $\alpha\nu$ .

#### 6. α5-Family integrins

An additional target for anti-cancer therapy is integrin  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1, known to be expressed on CAFs, angiogenic vessels and tumor cells. A humanized monoclonal antibody, specifically binding to  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1, volociximab, showed absence of severe toxicities in patients with solid tumors and resulted in one minor response and disease stabilization in another case in a phase I clinical trial [163]. A phase II study with volociximab was performed in patients with relapsed malignant melanoma showing insufficient effects to proceed to stage 2 of the study [164]. The subsequent phase II study evaluating volociximab in refractory metastatic clear cell renal cancer resulted in stable disease in 87% of the patients [165]. This study is continued in a follow-up in which higher dose levels are being evaluated in patients [165].

In metastatic pancreatic cancer, volociximab was studied in combination with gemcitabine in which 5% had confirmed partial response and 50% of the patients showed a stable disease [166]. In a phase II study in platinum resistant advanced epithelial ovarian or primary peritoneal cancer, volociximab showed insufficient clinical activity [167]. Another study in recurrent ovarian or primary peritoneal cancer, volociximab was used in combination with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin, showing no statistically significant difference when compared to pegylated doxorubicin alone [168]. In a phase I dose escalation study of volociximab in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma showed promising clinical efficacy, but the development of this therapy has not been developed further [169]. Another integrin  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 monoclonal antibody developed by Pfizer, PF- 4605412 has also been evaluated in phase I clinical trials and has been discontinued due to the acute infusion-related reactions [170].

An integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  binding RGD peptide inhibited the progression of CCl4-induced liver fibrosis and collagen deposition in the liver [171]. Additionally, RGD inhibited the expression of collagen 1 and tissue inhibitor of MMP-1 and increased MMP-1 expression of human hepatic stellate cell derived cells *in vitro* [171].

Another  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 targeting peptide derived from the synergy region of fibronectin, binding to  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 and  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 3, ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH2) caused a dose-dependent decrease in tumor volume and inhibited metastasis in a metastatic mouse breast cancer model [172]. In a phase I clinical trial in patients with solid tumors, ATN-161 caused no dose limiting toxicities [173]. Unfortunately, no objective responses to ATN-161 treatment were found, but prolonged stable disease was observed in patients with renal cancer [173].

#### 7. α2-Family integrins

A small molecule inhibitor of integrin  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  (E7820) was investigated in phase I clinical trials for the treatment of metastatic colon cancer and is currently tested in phase II clinical trials in combination with cetuximab [174,175].

#### 8. β1-Family integrins

Since integrin  $\beta$ 1 is a partner receptor for many  $\alpha$  receptor units, it is present ubiquitously. In bevacizumab-resistant glioblastomas (BRG) integrin  $\beta$ 1 mediates interactions between the tumor and its microenvironment [176]. These interactions include tumor cell binding to ECMligands like fibronectin, collagen IV and laminin, and VEGF-dependent as well as independent vascularization [176]. Treatment of BRG mouse xenografts with the integrin  $\beta$ 1 specific antibody, OS2966, allowed a reduction in the dose of bevacizumab and delivery of OS2966 over a period of 28 days showed increased apoptosis of tumor cells and a decrease in tumor cell invasiveness and mesenchymal morphology of tumor cells [176].

A 41 amino acid peptide, purified from the venom of the *Vipera lebetina obtusa* viper is an effective inhibitor of integrin  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and inhibited angiogenesis and tumor growth *in vivo* in the chicken chorioallantoic membrane assay and the Lewis lung syngeneic mouse model [177].

#### 9. cl, cl and b2-Family integrins

 $\alpha$ L and  $\alpha$ M-family integrins antibody mediated blocking of integrin  $\alpha$ L $\beta$ 2 in mice that underwent bile duct ligation decreased the activity of alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase levels in serum. Additionally the adhesion of leukocytes in bile duct ligation induced post-sinusoidal venules was reduced [178]. Integrin  $\alpha$ M and CD44 blockage with antibody reduced the localization of monocytes to hepatic foci [179]. Additionally, treatment of rats with the neutropenic monoclonal antibody 1F123 against integrin  $\beta$ 2, capable of forming heterodimer with integrin  $\alpha$ M,  $\alpha$ L,  $\alpha$ X and  $\alpha$ D, attenuated alcohol initiated hepatic injury [86].

#### 10. Drug targeting strategies based on integrin ligands

Extensive work has been done in the design of new ligands for integrin receptor targeting that can be utilized for integrin facilitated drug delivery or imaging. A large portion of these ligands are targeting



**Fig. 3.** Existing integrin drug targeting ligands, applied for the modification of drug molecules, drug carriers and CAR-T cells (CAR-T), in the context of wound healing, fibrosis or tumor stroma and their respective integrin targets. Dashed lines show potential integrin targets for existing ligands that have not yet been used for targeting the respective cell line. In addition to already targeted integrins, integrins that have not yet been targeted but play a role in the pathology of wound healing, fibrosis or tumor stroma are presented.

RGDs and have been extensively reviewed in a recent article by Arosio *et al.* [181]. Therefore, RGD based targeting approaches have been excluded from this review, unless it has been shown that they have facilitated specific targeting to components related to fibrosis, wound healing or the tumor stroma. The followig section describes integrin targeting ligands, applied for the modification of drug molecules, drug carriers and CAR-T cells (CAR-T), in the context of wound healing, fibrosis and tumor stroma. (See Fig. 3.)

Ruoslahti et al. have developed two peptides binding to the  $\alpha v$  binding motifs Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) and Asn-Gly-Arg (NGR), and coupled these to the anti-cancer drug doxorubicin. Targeting the tumor vasculature of human breast cancer xenografts in mice, resulted in enhanced efficacy of doxorubicin [182]. Targeting doxorubicin to endothelial cells by linking a bicyclic CDCRGDCFC (RGD-4C) peptide selectively binding to integrin  $\alpha v\beta 3$  and  $\alpha v\beta 5$  and a D-Ala-Phe-Lys tripeptide selectively binding to tumor-associated protease plasmin to the drug, resulted in plasmin-dependent cytotoxicity of endothelial cells [183]. The cyclic RGD compound containing the conformational constrained homoSer-Pro dipeptide unit with a fluorescent probe for  $\alpha v\beta$ 3-imaging has shown to possess the ability to bind endothelial cells in vitro [184]. A new  $\alpha v\beta$ 3-specific tumor vessel binding cyclic peptide containing the iso-DGR motif was conjugated to albumin and coupled to tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) carrying gold nanoparticles [185]. These nanodrugs showed inhibited tumor growth in WEHI fibrosarcoma bearing mice [185].

The integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  antagonistic peptide ATN-161 in combination with the chemotherapeutic agent 5-fluorouracil significantly reduced liver metastasis, tumor microvessels as well as increased tumor cell apoptosis and decreased tumor cell proliferation, resulting in an increased overall survival in mice [186]. Later, ATN-161 was investigated in phase II trials in cancer [187]. The PHSCNK peptide targeting  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  was applied to modify Dox-loaded liposomes to enable targeting of the tumor vasculature and showed enhanced cytotoxicity to endothelial and breast cancer cells, which was attributed to integrin mediated endocytosis [188]. Mardilovich et al. have designed a integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  specific peptide PR\_b, mimicking the cell binding site of native fibronectin [189]. Later this peptide has been applied to target siRNA and polymerosomes, lipoplexes, polyplexes and stealth liposomes to integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  [190–192]. Peptidomimetic integrin ligands selectively binding to either  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ or  $\alpha v\beta 3$  in fibroblasts functionalized with 1-((1,3-dicarboxy) propyl)-4,7-(carboxymethyl)-1,4,7-triazacyclononane (NODAGA) successfully targeted  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  or  $\alpha v\beta 3$  expressing tumors in mice. Additionally, both peptidomimetics inhibited tumor growth in syngeneic subcutaneous WEHI-164 fibrosarcomas in mice by inhibiting  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 or  $\alpha$ v $\beta$ 3, respectively [193,194].

Modification of cisplatin with platinum (IV) complexes conjugated to the  $\alpha\nu\beta\beta/\alpha\nu\beta5$ -specific peptide motifs RGD, (CRGDC)c, (RGDfK)c or NGR to target tumor endothelial cells, showed anti-proliferative effects on human endothelial cells *in vitro* [195]. Pan *et al.*, have modified PEGylated perfluorooctylbromide (PFOB) nanoparticles (NPs) carrying the anti-angiogenic fumagillin with a quinolonic  $\alpha\nu\beta3$ -integrin ligand conjugated to the PEG chain of these NPs. This drug delivery system decreased angiogenesis in a Matrigel plug assay for angiogenesis in mice [196].

Fu *et al.*, have modified chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell with echistatin, having a high binding affinity to integrin  $\alpha v\beta 3$ . The echistatin expressing T cells were capable to efficiently lyse HUVECS, resulting in the extensive bleeding of the tumor tissue *in vivo* without damaging blood vessels in normal tissues and facilitated specific penetration of liposomes into the tumor site [197].

#### 11. Conclusions and future directions

Despite a lot of work being done to gain insight in the biological role of integrin subtypes in wound healing, fibrosis and tumor stroma, there is still a need to better understand their significance and implications. Most studies have been carried out by the means of integrin subunit knockout in mice or using integrin-specific inhibitory antibodies. A few studies have revealed integrins with a role in fibrosis, which resulted in some potential anti-fibrotic therapeutics. However, most of them failed in early or late clinical trials. It is worth mentioning that integrin  $\alpha v$  and  $\beta 1$  are the most studied integrin receptors because they are the partner receptors of many heterodimeric receptors. RGD and its derivative peptide sequences binding to  $\alpha v$  and  $\beta 1$  units are the most studied ligands against integrins with therapeutic potential. However, most of them are not specific to one but various integrin receptors.

Furthermore, it is very important to realize that integrin  $\alpha v$  and  $\beta 1$ are widely expressed within the human body and are not specifically expressed. Some of the cells types which express integrin  $\alpha v$  and  $\beta 1$  include e.g. endothelial cells and tumor cells. Therefore, molecules targeting  $\alpha v$  or  $\beta 1$  integrins are prone to exert off target effects. This could also explain why inhibitors such as Cilengitide, which have made it to phase III clinical trials have finally been terminated. Especially in fibrosis related diseases, it could be an interesting approach to develop molecules targeting integrins with a more disease-specific expression which are not involved in angiogenesis but for example expressed on myofibroblasts or tumor associates macrophages, two of the main drivers of disease progression in fibrosis, tumor stroma and wound healing. Therefore, studies exploiting the expression of a specific integrin subunit and its cellular localization within pathological tissues and other healthy organs are crucial to determine novel integrinbased therapeutic targets. Moreover, the design of integrin subunit specific drugs will decrease the risk of off-target effects due to a high specificity of these molecules. An additional major aspects for the identification of integrin subunits as therapeutic targets is to have a clear understanding of integrin subunit - growth factor interactions.

Furthermore, with regard to drug targeting approaches, mainly targets of RGD-based targeting peptides binding to integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta3$ ,  $\alpha\nu\beta5$ ,  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  and  $\alpha5\beta1$  have been applied. Also in this context targeting of non-disease-specific integrins and integrin subunits can lead to off target effects and could results in severe toxicities, depending on the payload of the delivery system, even if the targeting molecule itself does not exert toxic effects.

Another important point to consider with regard to RGD-based targeting approaches is a finding by Kunjachan *et al.* [198] which showed that passive targeting of 10 nm-size polymeric nanocarriers resulted in enhanced intratumoral nanoparticle accumulation and retention when compared with RGD-peptide modified polymeric nanoparticles. These observations might be different for targeting systems with a larger size but it should be taken into consideration that targeting approaches directed towards targets with a more specific expression within a certain disease might increase site-specific accumulation and retention and retention and retention and retention and retention and additionally reduce side effects.

In conclusion, studies which have revealed the biological function of various integrins within fibrosis related disease, although not completely understood, imply various novel therapeutic and drug targeting targets. One of the major challenges remaining is to use the knowledge obtained on integrin biology to develop highly integrin subunit specific targeting molecules, which can be applied as therapeutics by themselves or utilized as targeting ligands in disease-specific drug delivery systems.

#### References

- W.Z. Mehal, J. Iredale, S.L. Friedman, Scraping fibrosis: expressway to the core of fibrosis, Nat. Med. 17 (2011) 552–553.
- [2] B. Rybinski, J. Franco-Barraza, E. Cukierman, The wound healing, chronic fibrosis, and cancer progression triad, Physiol. Genomics 46 (2014) 223–244.
- [3] N.C. Henderson, D. Sheppard, Integrin-mediated regulation of TGFbeta in fibrosis, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1832 (2013) 891–896.
- [4] K.P. Conroy, L.J. Kitto, N.C. Henderson, Alphav integrins: key regulators of tissue fibrosis, Cell Tissue Res. 365 (2016) 511–519.

- [5] L. Seguin, J.S. Desgrosellier, S.M. Weis, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins and cancer: regulators of cancer stemness, metastasis, and drug resistance, Trends Cell Biol. 25 (2015) 234–240.
- [6] L. Koivisto, J. Heino, L. Hakkinen, H. Larjava, Integrins in wound healing, Adv. Wound Care 3 (2014) 762–783.
- [7] E.H.J. Danen, Integrin signaling as a cancer drug target, ISRN Cell Biol. 2013 (2013) 14.
- [8] J.S. Desgrosellier, D.A. Cheresh, Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer 10 (2010) 9–22.
- [9] A.L. Berrier, K.M. Yamada, Cell-matrix adhesion, J. Cell. Physiol. 213 (2007) 565–573.
- [10] K.R. Legate, E. Montanez, O. Kudlacek, R. Fassler, ILK, PINCH and parvin: the tIPP of integrin signalling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7 (2006) 20–31.
- [11] M. Zoller, Tetraspanins: push and pull in suppressing and promoting metastasis, Nat. Rev. Cancer 9 (2009) 40–55.
- [12] F.G. Giancotti, G. Tarone, Positional control of cell fate through joint integrin/receptor protein kinase signaling, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 19 (2003) 173–206.
- [13] J. Ivaska, J. Heino, Cooperation between integrins and growth factor receptors in signaling and endocytosis, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 27 (2011) 291–320.
- [14] S. Cabodi, L. Moro, E. Bergatto, E. Boeri Erba, P. Di Stefano, E. Turco, G. Tarone, P. Defilippi, Integrin regulation of epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor and of EGF-dependent responses, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 32 (2004) 438–442.
- [15] M.A. Schwartz, M.H. Ginsberg, Networks and crosstalk: integrin signalling spreads, Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (2002) E65–68.
- [16] K.M. Yamada, S. Even-Ram, Integrin regulation of growth factor receptors, Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (2002) E75–76.
- [17] J. Ivaska, J. Heino, Interplay between cell adhesion and growth factor receptors: from the plasma membrane to the endosomes, Cell Tissue Res. 339 (2010) 111–120.
- [18] L. Moro, M. Venturino, C. Bozzo, L. Silengo, F. Altruda, L. Beguinot, G. Tarone, P. Defilippi, Integrins induce activation of EGF receptor: role in MAP kinase induction and adhesion-dependent cell survival, EMBO J. 17 (1998) 6622–6632.
- [19] L. Moro, L. Dolce, S. Cabodi, E. Bergatto, E. Boeri Erba, M. Smeriglio, E. Turco, S.F. Retta, M.G. Giuffrida, M. Venturino, J. Godovac-Zimmermann, A. Conti, E. Schaefer, L. Beguinot, C. Tacchetti, P. Gaggini, L. Silengo, G. Tarone, P. Defilippi, Integrin-induced epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor activation requires c-Src and p130Cas and leads to phosphorylation of specific EGF receptor tyrosines, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 9405–9414.
- [20] A. Danilkovitch-Miagkova, D. Angeloni, A. Skeel, S. Donley, M. Lerman, E.J. Leonard, Integrin-mediated RON growth factor receptor phosphorylation requires tyrosine kinase activity of both the receptor and c-Src, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 14783–14786.
- [21] E. Borges, Y. Jan, E. Ruoslahti, Platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 bind to the beta 3 integrin through its extracellular domain, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 39867–39873.
- [22] K.A. DeMali, E. Balciunaite, A. Kazlauskas, Integrins enhance platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-dependent responses by altering the signal relay enzymes that are recruited to the PDGF beta receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 19551–19558.
- [23] M. Schneller, K. Vuori, E. Ruoslahti, Alphavbeta3 integrin associates with activated insulin and PDGFbeta receptors and potentiates the biological activity of PDGF, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 5600–5607.
- [24] R. Soldi, S. Mitola, M. Strasly, P. Defilippi, G. Tarone, F. Bussolino, Role of alphavbeta3 integrin in the activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2, EMBO J. 18 (1999) 882–892.
- [25] C. Sundberg, K. Rubin, Stimulation of beta1 integrins on fibroblasts induces PDGF independent tyrosine phosphorylation of PDGF beta-receptors, J. Cell Biol. 132 (1996) 741–752.
- [26] R. Wang, L.D. Ferrell, S. Faouzi, J.J. Maher, J.M. Bishop, Activation of the Met receptor by cell attachment induces and sustains hepatocellular carcinomas in transgenic mice, J. Cell Biol. 153 (2001) 1023–1034.
- [27] S.J. Chiu, S.T. Jiang, Y.K. Wang, M.J. Tang, Hepatocyte growth factor upregulates alpha2beta1 integrin in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells: implications in tubulogenesis, J. Biomed. Sci. 9 (2002) 261–272.
- [28] C.C. Liang, H.C. Chen, Sustained activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase stimulated by hepatocyte growth factor leads to integrin alpha 2 expression that is involved in cell scattering, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 21146–21152.
- [29] X. Chen, H. Wang, H.J. Liao, W. Hu, L. Gewin, G. Mernaugh, S. Zhang, Z.Y. Zhang, L. Vega-Montoto, R.M. Vanacore, R. Fassler, R. Zent, A. Pozzi, Integrin-mediated type II TGF-beta receptor tyrosine dephosphorylation controls SMAD-dependent profibrotic signaling, J. Clin. Invest. 124 (2014) 3295–3310.
- [30] E. Ruoslahti, M.D. Pierschbacher, New perspectives in cell adhesion: RGD and integrins, Science 238 (1987) 491–497.
- [31] J.S. Munger, X. Huang, H. Kawakatsu, M.J. Griffiths, S.L. Dalton, J. Wu, J.F. Pittet, N. Kaminski, C. Garat, M.A. Matthay, D.B. Rifkin, D. Sheppard, The integrin alpha v beta 6 binds and activates latent TGF beta 1: a mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis, Cell 96 (1999) 319–328.
- [32] D. Mu, S. Cambier, L. Fjellbirkeland, J.L. Baron, J.S. Munger, H. Kawakatsu, D. Sheppard, V.C. Broaddus, S.L. Nishimura, The integrin alpha(v)beta8 mediates epithelial homeostasis through MT1-MMP-dependent activation of TGF-beta1, J. Cell Biol. 157 (2002) 493–507.
- [33] Y. Asano, H. Ihn, K. Yamane, M. Jinnin, Y. Mimura, K. Tamaki, Increased expression of integrin alpha(v)beta3 contributes to the establishment of autocrine TGF-beta signaling in scleroderma fibroblasts, J. Immunol. 175 (2005) 7708–7718.

- [34] Y. Asano, H. Ihn, K. Yamane, M. Jinnin, K. Tamaki, Increased expression of integrin alphavbeta5 induces the myofibroblastic differentiation of dermal fibroblasts, Am. J. Pathol. 168 (2006) 499–510.
- [35] P.J. Wipff, D.B. Rifkin, J.J. Meister, B. Hinz, Myofibroblast contraction activates latent TGF-beta1 from the extracellular matrix, J. Cell Biol. 179 (2007) 1311–1323.
- [36] A.L. Prieto, G.M. Edelman, K.L. Crossin, Multiple integrins mediate cell attachment to cytotactin/tenascin, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90 (1993) 10154–10158.
- [37] D. Marsh, S. Dickinson, G.W. Neill, J.F. Marshall, I.R. Hart, G.J. Thomas, Alpha vbeta 6 integrin promotes the invasion of morphoeic basal cell carcinoma through stromal modulation, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 3295–3303.
- [38] A.J. Galliher, W.P. Schiemann, Beta3 integrin and Src facilitate transforming growth factor-beta mediated induction of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in mammary epithelial cells, Breast Cancer Res. 8 (2006) R42.
- [39] L.E. Reynolds, F.J. Conti, M. Lucas, R. Grose, S. Robinson, M. Stone, G. Saunders, C. Dickson, R.O. Hynes, A. Lacy-Hulbert, K. Hodivala-Dilke, Accelerated re-epithelialization in beta3-integrin-deficient- mice is associated with enhanced TGF-beta1 signaling, Nat. Med. 11 (2005) 167–174.
- [40] Y. Asano, H. Ihn, M. Jinnin, Y. Mimura, K. Tamaki, Involvement of alphavbeta5 integrin in the establishment of autocrine TGF-beta signaling in dermal fibroblasts derived from localized scleroderma, J. Invest. Dermatol. 126 (2006) 1761–1769.
- [41] J.D. Hood, R. Frausto, W.B. Kiosses, M.A. Schwartz, D.A. Cheresh, Differential alphav integrin-mediated Ras-ERK signaling during two pathways of angiogenesis, J. Cell Biol. 162 (2003) 933–943.
- [42] M. Friedlander, P.C. Brooks, R.W. Shaffer, C.M. Kincaid, J.A. Varner, D.A. Cheresh, Definition of two angiogenic pathways by distinct alpha v integrins, Science 270 (1995) 1500–1502.
- [43] S.M. Weis, J.N. Lindquist, L.A. Barnes, K.M. Lutu-Fuga, J. Cui, M.R. Wood, D.A. Cheresh, Cooperation between VEGF and beta3 integrin during cardiac vascular development, Blood 109 (2007) 1962–1970.
- [44] S.N. Nikolopoulos, P. Blaikie, T. Yoshioka, W. Guo, F.G. Giancotti, Integrin beta4 signaling promotes tumor angiogenesis, Cancer Cell 6 (2004) 471–483.
- [45] X. Chen, T.D. Abair, M.R. Ibanez, Y. Su, M.R. Frey, R.S. Dise, D.B. Polk, A.B. Singh, R.C. Harris, R. Zent, A. Pozzi, Integrin alpha1beta1 controls reactive oxygen species synthesis by negatively regulating epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated Rac activation, Mol. Cell. Biol. 27 (2007) 3313–3326.
- [46] E. Mattila, T. Pellinen, J. Nevo, K. Vuoriluoto, A. Arjonen, J. Ivaska, Negative regulation of EGFR signalling through integrin-alpha1beta1-mediated activation of protein tyrosine phosphatase TCPTP, Nat. Cell Biol. 7 (2005) 78–85.
- [47] E. Mattila, K. Auvinen, M. Salmi, J. Ivaska, The protein tyrosine phosphatase TCPTP controls VEGFR2 signalling, J. Cell Sci. 121 (2008) 3570–3580.
- [48] A. Bertotti, P.M. Comoglio, L. Trusolino, Beta4 integrin is a transforming molecule that unleashes Met tyrosine kinase tumorigenesis, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 10674–10679.
- [49] C.Q. Zhu, S.N. Popova, E.R. Brown, D. Barsyte-Lovejoy, R. Navab, W. Shih, M. Li, M. Lu, I. Jurisica, L.Z. Penn, D. Gullberg, M.S. Tsao, Integrin alpha 11 regulates IGF2 expression in fibroblasts to enhance tumorigenicity of human non-small-cell lung cancer cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (2007) 11754–11759.
- [50] G. Huang, D.R. Brigstock, Integrin expression and function in the response of primary culture hepatic stellate cells to connective tissue growth factor (CCN2), J. Cell. Mol. Med. 15 (2011) 1087–1095.
- [51] A.J. Singer, R.A. Clark, Cutaneous wound healing, N. Engl. J. Med. 341 (1999) 738-746.
- [52] S. Liu, S.W. Xu, K. Blumbach, M. Eastwood, C.P. Denton, B. Eckes, T. Krieg, D.J. Abraham, A. Leask, Expression of integrin beta1 by fibroblasts is required for tissue repair in vivo, J. Cell Sci. 123 (2010) 3674–3682.
- [53] H. Gardner, Integrin alpha1beta1, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 819 (2014) 21-39.
- [54] C. Zeltz, D. Gullberg, The integrin-collagen connection a glue for tissue repair? J. Cell Sci. 129 (2016) 1284.
- [55] L. Ravanti, J. Heino, C. Lopez-Otin, V.M. Kahari, Induction of collagenase-3 (MMP-13) expression in human skin fibroblasts by three-dimensional collagen is mediated by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 2446–2455.
- [56] C. Wu, A.E. Chung, J.A. McDonald, A novel role for alpha 3 beta 1 integrins in extracellular matrix assembly, J. Cell Sci. 108 (Pt 6) (1995) 2511–2523.
- [57] K. Mitchell, C. Szekeres, V. Milano, K.B. Svenson, M. Nilsen-Hamilton, J.A. Kreidberg, C.M. DiPersio, Alpha3beta1 integrin in epidermis promotes wound angiogenesis and keratinocyte-to-endothelial-cell crosstalk through the induction of MRP3, J. Cell Sci. 122 (2009) 1778–1787.
- [58] A. Kato, O. Okamoto, K. Ishikawa, H. Sumiyoshi, N. Matsuo, H. Yoshioka, M. Nomizu, T. Shimada, S. Fujiwara, Dermatopontin interacts with fibronectin, promotes fibronectin fibril formation, and enhances cell adhesion, J. Biol. Chem. 286 (2011) 14861–14869.
- [59] Z. Bata-Csorgo, K.D. Cooper, K.M. Ting, J.J. Voorhees, C. Hammerberg, Fibronectin and alpha5 integrin regulate keratinocyte cell cycling. A mechanism for increased fibronectin potentiation of T cell lymphokine-driven keratinocyte hyperproliferation in psoriasis, J. Clin. Invest. 101 (1998) 1509–1518.
- [60] L. Hakkinen, J. Heino, L. Koivisto, H. Larjava, Altered interaction of human granulation-tissue fibroblasts with fibronectin is regulated by alpha 5 beta 1 integrin, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1224 (1994) 33–42.
- [61] K.A. Lygoe, I. Wall, P. Stephens, M.P. Lewis, Role of vitronectin and fibronectin receptors in oral mucosal and dermal myofibroblast differentiation, Biol. Cell. 99 (2007) 601–614.
- [62] C. Danussi, A. Petrucco, B. Wassermann, E. Pivetta, T.M. Modica, L. Del Bel Belluz, A. Colombatti, P. Spessotto, EMILIN1-alpha4/alpha9 integrin interaction inhibits dermal fibroblast and keratinocyte proliferation, J. Cell Biol. 195 (2011) 131–145.

- [63] Y. Nakayama, S. Kon, D. Kurotaki, J. Morimoto, Y. Matsui, T. Uede, Blockade of interaction of alpha9 integrin with its ligands hinders the formation of granulation in cutaneous wound healing, Lab. Investig, 90 (2010) 881–894.
- [64] J.N. Schulz, C. Zeltz, I.W. Sorensen, M. Barczyk, S. Carracedo, R. Hallinger, A. Niehoff, B. Eckes, D. Gullberg, Reduced granulation tissue and wound strength in the absence of alpha11beta1 integrin, J. Invest. Dermatol. 135 (2015) 1435–1444.
- [65] M.C. Zweers, J.M. Davidson, A. Pozzi, R. Hallinger, K. Janz, F. Quondamatteo, B. Leutgeb, T. Krieg, B. Eckes, Integrin alpha2beta1 is required for regulation of murine wound angiogenesis but is dispensable for reepithelialization, J. Invest. Dermatol. 127 (2007) 467–478.
- [66] M. Sisco, J.D. Chao, I. Kim, J.E. Mogford, T.N. Mayadas, T.A. Mustoe, Delayed wound healing in Mac-1-deficient mice is associated with normal monocyte recruitment, Wound Repair Regen. 15 (2007) 566–571.
- [67] C. Margadant, A. Sonnenberg, Integrin-TGF-beta crosstalk in fibrosis, cancer and wound healing, EMBO Rep. 11 (2010) 97–105.
- [68] A. Pozzi, R. Zent, Integrins in kidney disease, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 24 (2013) 1034–1039.
- [69] X. Chen, G. Moeckel, J.D. Morrow, D. Cosgrove, R.C. Harris, A.B. Fogo, R. Zent, A. Pozzi, Lack of integrin alpha1beta1 leads to severe glomerulosclerosis after glomerular injury, Am. J. Pathol. 165 (2004) 617–630.
- [70] C.M. Borza, Y. Su, X. Chen, L. Yu, S. Mont, S. Chetyrkin, P. Voziyan, B.G. Hudson, P.C. Billings, H. Jo, J.S. Bennett, W.F. Degrado, B. Eckes, R. Zent, A. Pozzi, Inhibition of integrin alpha2beta1 ameliorates glomerular injury, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23 (2012) 1027–1038.
- [71] D. Rubel, J. Frese, M. Martin, A. Leibnitz, R. Girgert, N. Miosge, B. Eckes, G.A. Muller, O. Gross, Collagen receptors integrin alpha2beta1 and discoidin domain receptor 1 regulate maturation of the glomerular basement membrane and loss of integrin alpha2beta1 delays kidney fibrosis in COL4A3 knockout mice, Matrix Biol. 34 (2014) 13–21.
- [72] R. Bansal, S. Nakagawa, S. Yazdani, J. van Baarlen, A. Venkatesh, A.P. Koh, W.M. Song, N. Goossens, H. Watanabe, M.B. Beasley, C.A. Powell, G. Storm, N. Kaminski, H. van Goor, S.L. Friedman, Y. Hoshida, J. Prakash, Integrin alpha 11 in the regulation of the myofibroblast phenotype: implications for fibrotic diseases, Exp. Mol. Med. 49 (2017), e396.
- [73] K. Hahm, M.E. Lukashev, Y. Luo, W.J. Yang, B.M. Dolinski, P.H. Weinreb, K.J. Simon, L. Chun Wang, D.R. Leone, R.R. Lobb, D.J. McCrann, N.E. Allaire, G.S. Horan, A. Fogo, R. Kalluri, C.F. Shield III, D. Sheppard, H.A. Gardner, S.M. Violette, Alphav beta6 integrin regulates renal fibrosis and inflammation in Alport mouse, Am. J. Pathol. 170 (2007) 110–125.
- [74] Y. Chang, W.L. Lau, H. Jo, K. Tsujino, L. Gewin, N.I. Reed, A. Atakilit, A.C.F. Nunes, W.F. DeGrado, D. Sheppard, Pharmacologic blockade of alphavbeta1 integrin ameliorates renal failure and fibrosis in vivo, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28 (2017) 1998–2005.
- [75] A. Hartner, C. Menendez-Castro, N. Cordasic, I. Marek, G. Volkert, B. Klanke, W. Rascher, K.F. Hilgers, Tubulointerstitial de novo expression of the alpha8 integrin chain in a rodent model of renal fibrosis—a potential target for anti-fibrotic therapy? PLoS One 7 (2012), e48362.
- [76] G. Zheng, J. Zhang, H. Zhao, H. Wang, M. Pang, X. Qiao, S.R. Lee, T.T. Hsu, T.K. Tan, J.G. Lyons, Y. Zhao, X. Tian, D.A. Loebel, I. Rubera, M. Tauc, Y. Wang, Y. Wang, Y.M. Wang, Q. Cao, C. Wang, V.W. Lee, S.I. Alexander, P.P. Tam, D.C. Harris, Alpha3 integrin of cell-cell contact mediates kidney fibrosis by integrin-linked kinase in proximal tubular E-cadherin deficient mice, Am. J. Pathol. 186 (2016) 1847–1860.
- [77] R. Volpes, J.J. van den Oord, V.J. Desmet, Distribution of the VLA family of integrins in normal and pathological human liver tissue, Gastroenterology 101 (1991) 200–206.
- [78] M. Nejjari, A. Couvelard, J.F. Mosnier, A. Moreau, G. Feldmann, C. Degott, P. Marcellin, J.Y. Scoazec, Integrin up-regulation in chronic liver disease: relationship with inflammation and fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C, J. Pathol. 195 (2001) 473–481.
- [79] Y. Popov, E. Patsenker, F. Stickel, J. Zaks, K.R. Bhaskar, G. Niedobitek, A. Kolb, H. Friess, D. Schuppan, Integrin alphavbeta6 is a marker of the progression of biliary and portal liver fibrosis and a novel target for antifibrotic therapies, J. Hepatol. 48 (2008) 453–464.
- [80] E. Sacanella, R. Estruch, A. Gaya, K. Ferrer, J. Fernandez-Sola, J.R. Alonso, J.M. Nicolas, A. Urbano-Marquez, Upregulated expression of VLA proteins and CD29 in peripheral blood lymphocytes of chronic alcoholics without ethanol-related diseases, Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 23 (1999) 371–375.
- [81] A. Chedid, C.L. Mendenhall, T.E. Moritz, S.W. French, T.S. Chen, T.R. Morgan, Expression of the beta 1 chain (CD29) of integrins and CD45 in alcoholic liver disease. The VA Cooperative Study Group No. 275, Am. J. Gastroenterol. 88 (1993) 1920–1927.
- [82] A. Panasiuk, J. Zak, E. Maciorkowska, B. Panasiuk, D. Prokopowicz, Expression of beta2-integrin on leukocytes in liver cirrhosis, World J. Gastroenterol. 12 (2006) 6193–6197.
- [83] M. Yasoshima, Y. Nakanuma, K. Tsuneyama, J. Van de Water, M.E. Gershwin, Immunohistochemical analysis of adhesion molecules in the micro-environment of portal tracts in relation to aberrant expression of PDC-E2 and HLA-DR on the bile ducts in primary biliary cirrhosis, J. Pathol. 175 (1995) 319–325.
- [84] E.P. Nadler, D. Patterson, S. Violette, P. Weinreb, M. Lewis, M.S. Magid, M.A. Greco, Integrin alphavbeta6 and mediators of extracellular matrix deposition are upregulated in experimental biliary atresia, J. Surg. Res. 154 (2009) 21–29.
- [85] A. Banerjee, J.H. Lee, S.K. Ramaiah, Interaction of osteopontin with neutrophil alpha (4)beta(1) and alpha(9)beta(1) integrins in a rodent model of alcoholic liver disease, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 233 (2008) 238–246.
- [86] A.P. Bautista, Chronic alcohol intoxication enhances the expression of CD18 adhesion molecules on rat neutrophils and release of a chemotactic factor by Kupffer cells, Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 19 (1995) 285–290.

- [87] M. Shiina, K. Kobayashi, Y. Mano, Y. Ueno, M. Ishii, T. Shimosegawa, Up-regulation of CD11a (LFA-1) expression on peripheral CD4+ T cells in primary biliary cirrhosis, Dig. Dis. Sci. 47 (2002) 1209–1215.
- [88] J.S. Gujral, A. Farhood, M.L. Bajt, H. Jaeschke, Neutrophils aggravate acute liver injury during obstructive cholestasis in bile duct-ligated mice, Hepatology 38 (2003) 355–363.
- [89] P. Kodali, P. Wu, P.A. Lahiji, E.J. Brown, J.J. Maher, ANIT toxicity toward mouse hepatocytes in vivo is mediated primarily by neutrophils via CD18, Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 291 (2006) G355–363.
- [90] A.I. Aspinall, S.M. Curbishley, P.F. Lalor, C.J. Weston, M. Blahova, E. Liaskou, R.M. Adams, A.P. Holt, D.H. Adams, CX(3)CR1 and vascular adhesion protein-1dependent recruitment of CD16(+) monocytes across human liver sinusoidal endothelium, Hepatology 51 (2010) 2030–2039.
- [91] M.T. Milliano, B.A. Luxon, Initial signaling of the fibronectin receptor (alpha5beta1 integrin) in hepatic stellate cells is independent of tyrosine phosphorylation, J. Hepatol. 39 (2003) 32–37.
- [92] D. Levine, D.C. Rockey, T.A. Milner, J.M. Breuss, J.T. Fallon, L.M. Schnapp, Expression of the integrin alpha8beta1 during pulmonary and hepatic fibrosis, Am. J. Pathol. 156 (2000) 1927–1935.
- [93] N.C. Henderson, T.D. Arnold, Y. Katamura, M.M. Giacomini, J.D. Rodriguez, J.H. McCarty, A. Pellicoro, E. Raschperger, C. Betsholtz, P.G. Ruminski, D.W. Griggs, M.J. Prinsen, J.J. Maher, J.P. Iredale, A. Lacy-Hulbert, R.H. Adams, D. Sheppard, Targeting of alphav integrin identifies a core molecular pathway that regulates fibrosis in several organs, Nat. Med. 19 (2013) 1617–1624.
- [94] M. Busk, R. Pytela, D. Sheppard, Characterization of the integrin alpha v beta 6 as a fibronectin-binding protein, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 5790–5796.
- [95] J.M. Breuss, N. Gillett, L. Lu, D. Sheppard, R. Pytela, Restricted distribution of integrin beta 6 mRNA in primate epithelial tissues, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 41 (1993) 1521–1527.
- [96] H. Chen, J. Qu, X. Huang, A. Kurundkar, L. Zhu, N. Yang, A. Venado, Q. Ding, G. Liu, V.B. Antony, V.J. Thannickal, Y. Zhou, Mechanosensing by the alpha6-integrin confers an invasive fibroblast phenotype and mediates lung fibrosis, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016), 12564.
- [97] J. Araya, S. Cambier, J.A. Markovics, P. Wolters, D. Jablons, A. Hill, W. Finkbeiner, K. Jones, V.C. Broaddus, D. Sheppard, A. Barzcak, Y. Xiao, D.J. Erle, S.L. Nishimura, Squamous metaplasia amplifies pathologic epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in COPD patients, J. Clin. Invest. 117 (2007) 3551–3562.
- [98] J. Araya, S. Cambier, A. Morris, W. Finkbeiner, S.L. Nishimura, Integrin-mediated transforming growth factor-beta activation regulates homeostasis of the pulmonary epithelial-mesenchymal trophic unit, Am. J. Pathol. 169 (2006) 405–415.
- [99] H. Kitamura, S. Cambier, S. Somanath, T. Barker, S. Minagawa, J. Markovics, A. Goodsell, J. Publicover, L. Reichardt, D. Jablons, P. Wolters, A. Hill, J.D. Marks, J. Lou, J.F. Pittet, J. Gauldie, J.L. Baron, S.L. Nishimura, Mouse and human lung fibroblasts regulate dendritic cell trafficking, airway inflammation, and fibrosis through integrin alphavbeta8-mediated activation of TGF-beta, J. Clin. Invest. 121 (2011) 2863–2875.
- [100] C.J. Scotton, M.A. Krupiczojc, M. Konigshoff, P.F. Mercer, Y.C. Lee, N. Kaminski, J. Morser, J.M. Post, T.M. Maher, A.G. Nicholson, J.D. Moffatt, G.J. Laurent, C.K. Derian, O. Eickelberg, R.C. Chambers, Increased local expression of coagulation factor X contributes to the fibrotic response in human and murine lung injury, J. Clin. Invest. 119 (2009) 2550–2563.
- [101] K.K. Kim, M.C. Kugler, P.J. Wolters, L. Robillard, M.G. Galvez, A.N. Brumwell, D. Sheppard, H.A. Chapman, Alveolar epithelial cell mesenchymal transition develops in vivo during pulmonary fibrosis and is regulated by the extracellular matrix, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 13180–13185.
- [102] Y. Kim, M.C. Kugler, Y. Wei, K.K. Kim, X. Li, A.N. Brumwell, H.A. Chapman, Integrin alpha3beta1-dependent beta-catenin phosphorylation links epithelial Smad signaling to cell contacts, J. Cell Biol. 184 (2009) 309–322.
- [103] K.K. Kim, Y. Wei, C. Szekeres, M.C. Kugler, P.J. Wolters, M.L. Hill, J.A. Frank, A.N. Brumwell, S.E. Wheeler, J.A. Kreidberg, H.A. Chapman, Epithelial cell alpha3beta1 integrin links beta-catenin and Smad signaling to promote myofibroblast formation and pulmonary fibrosis, J. Clin. Invest, 119 (2009) 213–224.
- [104] P.R. Kuninty, J. Schnittert, G. Storm, J. Prakash, MicroRNA targeting to modulate tumor microenvironment, Front. Oncol. 6 (2016) 3.
- [105] H. Parajuli, M.T. Teh, S. Abrahamsen, I. Christoffersen, E. Neppelberg, S. Lybak, T. Osman, A.C. Johannessen, D. Gullberg, K. Skarstein, D.E. Costea, Integrin alpha11 is overexpressed by tumour stroma of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and correlates positively with alpha smooth muscle actin expression, J. Oral Pathol. Med. 46 (2017) 267–275.
- [106] J. Franco-Barraza, R. Francescone, T. Luong, N. Shah, R. Madhani, G. Cukierman, E. Dulaimi, K. Devarajan, B.L. Egleston, E. Nicolas, R. Katherine Alpaugh, R. Malik, R.G. Uzzo, J.P. Hoffman, E.A. Golemis, E. Cukierman, Matrix-regulated integrin alphavbeta5 maintains alpha5beta1-dependent desmoplastic traits prognostic of neoplastic recurrence, elife 6 (2017).
- [107] S. Carracedo, N. Lu, S.N. Popova, R. Jonsson, B. Eckes, D. Gullberg, The fibroblast integrin alpha11beta1 is induced in a mechanosensitive manner involving activin A and regulates myofibroblast differentiation, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 10434–10445.
- [108] K.K. Wang, N. Liu, N. Radulovich, D.A. Wigle, M.R. Johnston, F.A. Shepherd, M.D. Minden, M.S. Tsao, Novel candidate tumor marker genes for lung adenocarcinoma, Oncogene 21 (2002) 7598–7604.
- [109] J.M. Westcott, A.M. Prechtl, E.A. Maine, T.T. Dang, M.A. Esparza, H. Sun, Y. Zhou, Y. Xie, G.W. Pearson, An epigenetically distinct breast cancer cell subpopulation promotes collective invasion, J. Clin. Invest. 125 (2015) 1927–1943.
- [110] N. Lu, T.V. Karlsen, R.K. Reed, M. Kusche-Gullberg, D. Gullberg, Fibroblast alpha11beta1 integrin regulates tensional homeostasis in fibroblast/A549 carcinoma heterospheroids, PLoS One 9 (2014), e103173.

- [111] S. Kale, R. Raja, D. Thorat, G. Soundararajan, T.V. Patil, G.C. Kundu, Osteopontin signaling upregulates cyclooxygenase-2 expression in tumor-associated macrophages leading to enhanced angiogenesis and melanoma growth via alpha9beta1 integrin, Oncogene 34 (2015) 5408–5410.
- [112] W. Zhou, S.Q. Ke, Z. Huang, W. Flavahan, X. Fang, J. Paul, L. Wu, A.E. Sloan, R.E. McLendon, X. Li, J.N. Rich, S. Bao, Periostin secreted by glioblastoma stem cells recruits M2 tumour-associated macrophages and promotes malignant growth, Nat. Cell Biol. 17 (2015) 170–182.
- [113] B. Weigelt, J.L. Peterse, LJ. Van't Veer, Breast cancer metastasis: markers and models, Nat. Rev. Cancer 5 (2005) 591–602.
- [114] K.K. Ganguly, S. Pal, S. Moulik, A. Chatterjee, Integrins and metastasis, Cell Adhes. Migr. 7 (2013) 251–261.
- [115] N.E. Ramirez, Z. Zhang, A. Madamanchi, K.L. Boyd, L.D. O'Rear, A. Nashabi, Z. Li, W.D. Dupont, A. Zijlstra, M.M. Zutter, The alpha(2)beta(1) integrin is a metastasis suppressor in mouse models and human cancer, J. Clin. Invest. 121 (2011) 226–237.
- [116] T. Tran, B. Barlow, L. O'Rear, B. Jarvis, Z. Li, K. Dickeson, W. Dupont, M. Zutter, Loss of the alpha2beta1 integrin alters human papilloma virus-induced squamous carcinoma progression in vivo and in vitro, PLoS One 6 (2011), e26858.
- [117] R.A. Bartolome, R. Barderas, S. Torres, M.J. Fernandez-Acenero, M. Mendes, J. Garcia-Foncillas, M. Lopez-Lucendo, J.I. Casal, Cadherin-17 interacts with alpha2beta1 integrin to regulate cell proliferation and adhesion in colorectal cancer cells causing liver metastasis, Oncogene 33 (2014) 1658–1669.
- [118] T. Matsuoka, M. Yashiro, S. Nishimura, T. Inoue, T. Fujihara, T. Sawada, Y. Kato, S. Seki, K. Hirakawa-Ys Chung, Increased expression of alpha2beta1-integrin in the peritoneal dissemination of human gastric carcinoma, Int. J. Mol. Med. 5 (2000) 21–25.
- [119] D. Baronas-Lowell, J.L. Lauer-Fields, J.A. Borgia, G.F. Sferrazza, M. Al-Ghoul, D. Minond, G.B. Fields, Differential modulation of human melanoma cell metalloproteinase expression by alpha2beta1 integrin and CD44 triple-helical ligands derived from type IV collagen, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 43503–43513.
- [120] C.L. Hall, J. Dai, K.L. van Golen, E.T. Keller, M.W. Long, Type I collagen receptor (alpha 2 beta 1) signaling promotes the growth of human prostate cancer cells within the bone, Cancer Res. 66 (2006) 8648–8654.
- [121] A.S. Berghoff, A.K. Kovanda, T. Melchardt, R. Bartsch, J.A. Hainfellner, B. Sipos, J. Schittenhelm, C.C. Zielinski, G. Widhalm, K. Dieckmann, M. Weller, S.L. Goodman, P. Birner, M. Preusser, Alphavbeta3, alphavbeta5 and alphavbeta6 integrins in brain metastases of lung cancer, Clin. Exp. Metastasis 31 (2014) 841–851.
- [122] C. Sun, R. Zargham, Q. Shao, X. Gui, V. Marcus, A. Lazaris, A. Salman, P. Metrakos, X. Qu, Z. Gao, Association of CD98, integrin beta1, integrin beta3 and Fak with the progression and liver metastases of colorectal cancer, Pathol. Res. Pract. 210 (2014) 668–674.
- [123] L. Hakkinen, L. Koivisto, H. Gardner, U. Saarialho-Kere, J.M. Carroll, M. Lakso, H. Rauvala, M. Laato, J. Heino, H. Larjava, Increased expression of beta6-integrin in skin leads to spontaneous development of chronic wounds, Am. J. Pathol. 164 (2004) 229–242.
- [124] S. AlDahlawi, A. Eslami, L. Hakkinen, H.S. Larjava, The alphavbeta6 integrin plays a role in compromised epidermal wound healing, Wound Repair Regen. 14 (2006) 289–297.
- [125] R.A. Clark, G.S. Ashcroft, M.J. Spencer, H. Larjava, M.W. Ferguson, Reepithelialization of normal human excisional wounds is associated with a switch from alpha v beta 5 to alpha v beta 6 integrins, Br. J. Dermatol. 135 (1996) 46–51.
- [126] K. Haapasalmi, K. Zhang, M. Tonnesen, J. Olerud, D. Sheppard, T. Salo, R. Kramer, R.A. Clark, V.J. Uitto, H. Larjava, Keratinocytes in human wounds express alpha v beta 6 integrin, J. Invest. Dermatol. 106 (1996) 42–48.
- [127] B.K. Pilcher, J.A. Dumin, B.D. Sudbeck, S.M. Krane, H.G. Welgus, W.C. Parks, The activity of collagenase-1 is required for keratinocyte migration on a type I collagen matrix, J. Cell Biol. 137 (1997) 1445–1457.
- [128] Z. Zhang, A.O. Morla, K. Vuori, J.S. Bauer, R.L. Juliano, E. Ruoslahti, The alpha v beta 1 integrin functions as a fibronectin receptor but does not support fibronectin matrix assembly and cell migration on fibronectin, J. Cell Biol. 122 (1993) 235-242.
- [129] A.D. Widgerow, Chronic wounds is cellular 'reception' at fault? Examining integrins and intracellular signalling, Int. Wound J. 10 (2013) 185–192.
- [130] D.E. Frank, W.G. Carter, Laminin 5 deposition regulates keratinocyte polarization and persistent migration, J. Cell Sci. 117 (2004) 1351–1363.
- [131] R. Grose, C. Hutter, W. Bloch, I. Thorey, F.M. Watt, R. Fassler, C. Brakebusch, S. Werner, A crucial role of beta 1 integrins for keratinocyte migration in vitro and during cutaneous wound repair, Development 129 (2002) 2303–2315.
- [132] C. Margadant, K. Raymond, M. Kreft, N. Sachs, H. Janssen, A. Sonnenberg, Integrin alpha3beta1 inhibits directional migration and wound re-epithelialization in the skin, J. Cell Sci. 122 (2009) 278–288.
- [133] A. Madamanchi, M. Capozzi, L. Geng, Z. Li, R.D. Friedman, S.K. Dickeson, J.S. Penn, M.M. Zutter, Mitigation of oxygen-induced retinopathy in alpha2beta1 integrindeficient mice, Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 55 (2014) 4338–4347.
- [134] P.B. Allen, P. Olivera, P. Emery, D. Moulin, J.Y. Jouzeau, P. Netter, S. Danese, B. Feagan, W.J. Sandborn, L. Peyrin-Biroulet, Review article: moving towards common therapeutic goals in Crohn's disease and rheumatoid arthritis, Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther. 45 (2017) 1058–1072.
- [135] J.C. Gutheil, T.N. Campbell, P.R. Pierce, J.D. Watkins, W.D. Huse, D.J. Bodkin, D.A. Cheresh, Targeted antiangiogenic therapy for cancer using Vitaxin: a humanized monoclonal antibody to the integrin alphavbeta3, Clin. Cancer Res. 6 (2000) 3056–3061.
   [136] O. Bushkin, P. R. Sandar, M. S. Sandar, S
- [136] C. Delbaldo, E. Raymond, K. Vera, L. Hammershaimb, K. Kaucic, S. Lozahic, M. Marty, S. Faivre, Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of etaracizumab (Abegrin), a humanized monoclonal antibody against alphavbeta3 integrin receptor, in patients with advanced solid tumors, Investig. New Drugs 26 (2008) 35–43.

- [137] D.G. McNeel, J. Eickhoff, F.T. Lee, D.M. King, D. Alberti, J.P. Thomas, A. Friedl, J. Kolesar, R. Marnocha, J. Volkman, J. Zhang, L. Hammershaimb, J.A. Zwiebel, G. Wilding, Phase I trial of a monoclonal antibody specific for alphavbeta3 integrin (MEDI-522) in patients with advanced malignancies, including an assessment of effect on tumor perfusion, Clin. Cancer Res. 11 (2005) 7851–7860.
- [138] P. Hersey, J. Sosman, S. O'Day, J. Richards, A. Bedikian, R. Gonzalez, W. Sharfman, R. Weber, T. Logan, M. Buzoianu, L. Hammershaimb, J.M. Kirkwood, G. Etaracizumab Melanoma Study, A randomized phase 2 study of etaracizumab, a monoclonal antibody against integrin alpha(v)beta(3), + or dacarbazine in patients with stage IV metastatic melanoma, Cancer 116 (2010) 1526–1534.
- [139] S.A. Mullamitha, N.C. Ton, G.J. Parker, A. Jackson, P.J. Julyan, C. Roberts, G.A. Buonaccorsi, Y. Watson, K. Davies, S. Cheung, L. Hope, J.W. Valle, J.A. Radford, J. Lawrance, M.P. Saunders, M.C. Munteanu, M.T. Nakada, J.A. Nemeth, H.M. Davis, Q. Jiao, U. Prabhakar, Z. Lang, R.E. Corringham, R.A. Beckman, G.C. Jayson, Phase I evaluation of a fully human anti-alphav integrin monoclonal antibody (CNTO 95) in patients with advanced solid tumors, Clin. Cancer Res. 13 (2007) 2128–2135.
- [140] A. Heidenreich, S.K. Rawal, K. Szkarlat, N. Bogdanova, L. Dirix, A. Stenzl, M. Welslau, G. Wang, F. Dawkins, C.J. de Boer, D. Schrijvers, A randomized, double-blind, multicenter, phase 2 study of a human monoclonal antibody to human alphanu integrins (intetumumab) in combination with docetaxel and prednisone for the first-line treatment of patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, Ann. Oncol. 24 (2013) 329–336.
- [141] H.E. Uronis, J. Jia, J.Ć. Bendell, L. Howard, N.A. Ready, P.H. Lee, M.D. Starr, A. Dellinger, H. Pang, A.B. Nixon, H.I. Hurwitz, A phase I/biomarker study of bevacizumab in combination with CNTO 95 in patients with advanced solid tumors, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 75 (2015) 343–352.
- [142] K.W. Beekman, A.D. Colevas, K. Cooney, R. Dipaola, R.L. Dunn, M. Gross, E.T. Keller, K.J. Pienta, C.J. Ryan, D. Smith, M. Hussain, Phase II evaluations of cilengitide in asymptomatic patients with androgen-independent prostate cancer: scientific rationale and study design, Clin. Genitourin. Cancer 4 (2006) 299–302.
- [143] L.B. Nabors, T. Mikkelsen, S.S. Rosenfeld, F. Hochberg, N.S. Akella, J.D. Fisher, G.A. Cloud, Y. Zhang, K. Carson, S.M. Wittemer, A.D. Colevas, S.A. Grossman, Phase I correlative biology study of cilengitide in patients with recurrent malignant glioma, J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 25 (2007) 1651–1657.
- [144] D.A. Reardon, K.L. Fink, T. Mikkelsen, T.F. Cloughesy, A. O'Neill, S. Plotkin, M. Glantz, P. Ravin, J.J. Raizer, K.M. Rich, D. Schiff, W.R. Shapiro, S. Burdette-Radoux, E.J. Dropcho, S.M. Wittemer, J. Nippgen, M. Picard, L.B. Nabors, Randomized phase II study of cilengitide, an integrin-targeting arginine-glycine-aspartic acid peptide, in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme, J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 26 (2008) 5610–5617.
- [145] T.J. MacDonald, C.F. Stewart, M. Kocak, S. Goldman, R.G. Ellenbogen, P. Phillips, D. Lafond, T.Y. Poussaint, M.W. Kieran, J.M. Boyett, L.E. Kun, Phase I clinical trial of cilengitide in children with refractory brain tumors: Pediatric Brain Tumor Consortium Study PBTC-012, J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 26 (2008) 919–924.
- [146] N.I. Reed, H. Jo, C. Chen, K. Tsujino, T.D. Arnold, W.F. DeGrado, D. Sheppard, The alphavbeta1 integrin plays a critical in vivo role in tissue fibrosis, Sci. Transl. Med. 7 (2015), 288ra279.
- [147] G.S. Horan, S. Wood, V. Ona, D.J. Li, M.E. Lukashev, P.H. Weinreb, K.J. Simon, K. Hahm, N.E. Allaire, N.J. Rinaldi, J. Goyal, C.A. Feghali-Bostwick, E.L. Matteson, C. O'Hara, R. Lafyatis, G.S. Davis, X. Huang, D. Sheppard, S.M. Violette, Partial inhibition of integrin alpha(v)beta6 prevents pulmonary fibrosis without exacerbating inflammation, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 177 (2008) 56–65.
- [148] K. Puthawala, N. Hadjiangelis, S.C. Jacoby, E. Bayongan, Z. Zhao, Z. Yang, M.L. Devitt, G.S. Horan, P.H. Weinreb, M.E. Lukashev, S.M. Violette, K.S. Grant, C. Colarossi, S.C. Formenti, J.S. Munger, Inhibition of integrin alpha(v)beta6, an activator of latent transforming growth factor-beta, prevents radiation-induced lung fibrosis, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 177 (2008) 82–90.
- [149] B. Wang, B.M. Dolinski, N. Kikuchi, D.R. Leone, M.G. Peters, P.H. Weinreb, S.M. Violette, D.M. Bissell, Role of alphavbeta6 integrin in acute biliary fibrosis, Hepatology 46 (2007) 1404–1412.
- [150] B.P. Sullivan, P.H. Weinreb, S.M. Violette, J.P. Luyendyk, The coagulation system contributes to alphaVbeta6 integrin expression and liver fibrosis induced by cholestasis, Am. J. Pathol. 177 (2010) 2837–2849.
- [151] L.J. Ma, H. Yang, A. Gaspert, G. Carlesso, M.M. Barty, J.M. Davidson, D. Sheppard, A.B. Fogo, Transforming growth factor-beta-dependent and -independent pathways of induction of tubulointerstitial fibrosis in beta6(-/-) mice, Am. J. Pathol. 163 (2003) 1261–1273.
- [152] STX-100 in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF), https://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT01371305 2017.
- [153] Y. Asano, H. Ihn, K. Yamane, M. Kubo, K. Tamaki, Increased expression levels of integrin alphavbeta5 on scleroderma fibroblasts, Am. J. Pathol. 164 (2004) 1275–1292.
- [154] Y. Asano, H. Ihn, K. Yamane, M. Jinnin, Y. Mimura, K. Tamaki, Involvement of alphavbeta5 integrin-mediated activation of latent transforming growth factor beta1 in autocrine transforming growth factor beta signaling in systemic sclerosis fibroblasts, Arthritis Rheum. 52 (2005) 2897–2905.
- [155] K.A. Lygoe, J.T. Norman, J.F. Marshall, M.P. Lewis, AlphaV integrins play an important role in myofibroblast differentiation, Wound Repair Regen. 12 (2004) 461–470.
- [156] P.C. Brooks, R.A. Clark, D.A. Cheresh, Requirement of vascular integrin alpha v beta 3 for angiogenesis, Science 264 (1994) 569–571.
- [157] E. Patsenker, Y. Popov, F. Stickel, A. Jonczyk, S.L. Goodman, D. Schuppan, Inhibition of integrin alphavbeta6 on cholangiocytes blocks transforming growth factor-beta activation and retards biliary fibrosis progression, Gastroenterology 135 (2008) 660–670.

- [158] H.M. Ellerby, W. Arap, L.M. Ellerby, R. Kain, R. Andrusiak, G.D. Rio, S. Krajewski, C.R. Lombardo, R. Rao, E. Ruoslahti, D.E. Bredesen, R. Pasqualini, Anti-cancer activity of targeted pro-apoptotic peptides, Nat. Med. 5 (1999) 1032–1038.
- [159] X. Zhou, F.R. Murphy, N. Gehdu, J. Zhang, J.P. Iredale, R.C. Benyon, Engagement of alphavbeta3 integrin regulates proliferation and apoptosis of hepatic stellate cells, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 23996–24006.
- [160] E. Patsenker, Y. Popov, F. Stickel, V. Schneider, M. Ledermann, H. Sagesser, G. Niedobitek, S.L. Goodman, D. Schuppan, Pharmacological inhibition of integrin alphavbeta3 aggravates experimental liver fibrosis and suppresses hepatic angiogenesis, Hepatology 50 (2009) 1501–1511.
- [161] N. Muhanna, S. Doron, O. Wald, A. Horani, A. Eid, O. Pappo, S.L. Friedman, R. Safadi, Activation of hepatic stellate cells after phagocytosis of lymphocytes: a novel pathway of fibrogenesis, Hepatology 48 (2008) 963–977.
- [162] B. Ulmasov, B.A. Neuschwander-Tetri, J. Lai, V. Monastyrskiy, T. Bhat, M.P. Yates, J. Oliva, M.J. Prinsen, P.G. Ruminski, D.W. Griggs, Inhibitors of Arg-Gly-Asp-binding integrins reduce development of pancreatic fibrosis in mice, Cell. Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 2 (2016) 499–518.
- [163] A.D. Ricart, A.W. Tolcher, G. Liu, K. Holen, G. Schwartz, M. Albertini, G. Weiss, S. Yazji, C. Ng, G. Wilding, Volociximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody that specifically binds alpha5beta1 integrin: a phase I, pharmacokinetic, and biological correlative study, Clin. Cancer Res. 14 (2008) 7924–7929.
- [164] J. Barton, A multicenter phase II study of volociximab in patients with relapsed metastatic melanoma, J. Clin. Oncol. 26 (2008) 9051.
- [165] R.A. Figlin, G.V. Kondagunta, S. Yazji, R.J. Motzer, R.M. Bukowski, Phase II study of volociximab (M200), an α5β1 anti-integrin antibody in refractory metastatic clear cell renal cell cancer (RCC), J. Clin. Oncol. 24 (2006) 4535.
- [166] T. Evans, R.K. Ramanathan, S. Yazji, R. Glynne-Jones, A. Anthoney, J. Berlin, J.W. Valle, Final results from cohort 1 of a phase II study of volociximab, an antiα5β1 integrin antibody, in combination with gemcitabine (GEM) in patients (pts) with metastatic pancreatic cancer (MPC), J. Clin. Oncol. 25 (2007) 4549.
- [167] K.M. Bell-McGuinn, C.M. Matthews, S.N. Ho, M. Barve, L. Gilbert, R.T. Penson, E. Lengyel, R. Palaparthy, K. Gilder, A. Vassos, W. McAuliffe, S. Weymer, J. Barton, R.J. Schilder, A phase II, single-arm study of the anti-alpha5beta1 integrin antibody volociximab as monotherapy in patients with platinum-resistant advanced epithelial ovarian or primary peritoneal cancer, Gynecol. Oncol. 121 (2011) 273–279.
- [168] I.B. Vergote, N. Colombo, E. Kutarska, J.D. Campo, C. Pippitt, A. Casado, E. Lengyel, K. Gilder, S. Ho, R.J. Schilder, Phase II study comparing volociximab (an antiangiogenic antibody) and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (PLD) with PLD alone in recurrent ovarian or primary peritoneal cancer, J. Clin. Oncol. 27 (2009) 5560.
- [169] B. Besse, L.C. Tsao, D.T. Chao, Y. Fang, J.C. Soria, S. Almokadem, C.P. Belani, Phase Ib safety and pharmacokinetic study of volociximab, an anti-alpha5beta1 integrin antibody, in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer, Ann. Oncol. 24 (2013) 90–96.
- [170] R. Williams, Discontinued in 2013: oncology drugs, Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 24 (2015) 95–110.
- [171] K. Kotoh, M. Nakamuta, M. Kohjima, M. Fukushima, S. Morizono, N. Kobayashi, M. Enjoji, H. Nawata, Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) peptide ameliorates carbon tetrachlorideinduced liver fibrosis via inhibition of collagen production and acceleration of collagenase activity, Int. J. Mol. Med. 14 (2004) 1049–1053.
- [172] P. Khalili, A. Arakelian, G. Chen, M.L. Plunkett, I. Beck, G.C. Parry, F. Donate, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, S.A. Rabbani, A non-RGD-based integrin binding peptide (ATN-161) blocks breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo, Mol. Cancer Ther. 5 (2006) 2271–2280.
- [173] M.E. Cianfrocca, K.A. Kimmel, J. Gallo, T. Cardoso, M.M. Brown, G. Hudes, N. Lewis, L. Weiner, G.N. Lam, S.C. Brown, D.E. Shaw, A.P. Mazar, R.B. Cohen, Phase 1 trial of the antiangiogenic peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH(2)), a beta integrin antagonist, in patients with solid tumours, Br. J. Cancer 94 (2006) 1621–1626.
- [174] M. Mita, K.R. Kelly, A. Mita, A.D. Řicart, O. Romero, A. Tolcher, L. Hook, C. Okereke, I. Krivelevich, D.P. Rossignol, F.J. Giles, E.K. Rowinsky, C. Takimoto, Phase I study of E7820, an oral inhibitor of integrin alpha-2 expression with antiangiogenic properties, in patients with advanced malignancies, Clin. Cancer Res. 17 (2011) 193–200.
- [175] A phase ii study of the safety and efficacy of E7820 plus cetuximab in colorectal cancer, preceded by a run-in study in advanced solid tumors, https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00309179 2006.
- [176] W.S. Carbonell, M. DeLay, A. Jahangiri, C.C. Park, M.K. Aghi, Beta1 integrin targeting potentiates antiangiogenic therapy and inhibits the growth of bevacizumabresistant glioblastoma, Cancer Res. 73 (2013) 3145–3154.
- [177] C. Marcinkiewicz, P.H. Weinreb, J.J. Calvete, D.G. Kisiel, S.A. Mousa, G.P. Tuszynski, R.R. Lobb, Obtustatin: a potent selective inhibitor of alpha1beta1 integrin in vitro and angiogenesis in vivo, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 2020–2023.
- [178] S. Dold, M.W. Laschke, S. Lavasani, M.D. Menger, H. Thorlacius, Cholestatic liver damage is mediated by lymphocyte function antigen-1-dependent recruitment of leukocytes, Surgery 144 (2008) 385–393.

- [179] C. Shi, P. Velazquez, T.M. Hohl, I. Leiner, M.L. Dustin, E.G. Pamer, Monocyte trafficking to hepatic sites of bacterial infection is chemokine independent and directed by focal intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression, J. Immunol. 184 (2010) 6266–6274.
- [180] R. Stupp, M.E. Hegi, T. Gorlia, S.C. Erridge, J. Perry, Y.K. Hong, K.D. Aldape, B. Lhermitte, T. Pietsch, D. Grujicic, J.P. Steinbach, W. Wick, R. Tarnawski, D.H. Nam, P. Hau, A. Weyerbrock, M.J. Taphoorn, C.C. Shen, N. Rao, L. Thurzo, U. Herrlinger, T. Gupta, R.D. Kortmann, K. Adamska, C. McBain, A.A. Brandes, J.C. Tonn, O. Schnell, T. Wiegel, C.Y. Kim, L.B. Nabors, D.A. Reardon, M.J. van den Bent, C. Hicking, A. Markivskyy, M. Picard, M. Weller, R. European Organisation for, C. Treatment of, C. Canadian Brain Tumor, Cs. team, Cilengitide combined with standard treatment for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma with methylated MGMT promoter (CENTRIC EORTC 26071-22072 study): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial, Lancet Oncol. 15 (2014) 1100–1108.
- [181] D. Arosio, C. Casagrande, Advancement in integrin facilitated drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 97 (2016) 111–143.
- [182] W. Arap, R. Pasqualini, E. Ruoslahti, Cancer treatment by targeted drug delivery to tumor vasculature in a mouse model, Science 279 (1998) 377–380.
- [183] F.M. de Groot, H.J. Broxterman, H.P. Adams, A. van Vliet, G.I. Tesser, Y.W. Elderkamp, A.J. Schraa, R.J. Kok, G. Molema, H.M. Pinedo, H.W. Scheeren, Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of a dual tumor-specific motive containing integrin-targeted plasmin-cleavable doxorubicin prodrug, Mol. Cancer Ther. 1 (2002) 901–911.
- [184] D. Arosio, L. Manzoni, E.M. Araldi, A. Caprini, E. Monferini, C. Scolastico, Functionalized cyclic RGD peptidomimetics: conjugable ligands for alphavbeta3 receptor imaging, Bioconjug. Chem. 20 (2009) 1611–1617.
- [185] F. Curnis, A. Sacchi, R. Longhi, B. Colombo, A. Gasparri, A. Corti, IsoDGR-tagged albumin: a new alphavbeta3 selective carrier for nanodrug delivery to tumors, Small 9 (2013) 673–678.
- [186] O. Stoeltzing, W. Liu, N. Reinmuth, F. Fan, G.C. Parry, A.A. Parikh, M.F. McCarty, C.D. Bucana, A.P. Mazar, L.M. Ellis, Inhibition of integrin alpha5beta1 function with a small peptide (ATN-161) plus continuous 5-FU infusion reduces colorectal liver metastases and improves survival in mice, Int. J. Cancer 104 (2003) 496–503.
- [187] S.L. Goodman, M. Picard, Integrins as therapeutic targets, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 33 (2012) 405–412.
- [188] W. Dai, T. Yang, X. Wang, J. Wang, X. Zhang, Q. Zhang, PHSCNK-modified and doxorubicin-loaded liposomes as a dual targeting system to integrinoverexpressing tumor neovasculature and tumor cells, J. Drug Target. 18 (2010) 254–263.
- [189] A. Mardilovich, E. Kokkoli, Biomimetic peptide-amphiphiles for functional biomaterials: the role of GRGDSP and PHSRN, Biomacromolecules 5 (2004) 950–957.
- [190] T.O. Pangburn, K. Georgiou, F.S. Bates, E. Kokkoli, Targeted polymersome delivery of siRNA induces cell death of breast cancer cells dependent upon Orai3 protein expression, Langmuir 28 (2012) 12816–12830.
- [191] M.M. Adil, Z.S. Erdman, E. Kokkoli, Transfection mechanisms of polyplexes, lipoplexes, and stealth liposomes in alpha(5)beta(1) integrin bearing DLD-1 colorectal cancer cells, Langmuir 30 (2014) 3802–3810.
- [192] D. Wang, B. Fei, L.V. Halig, X. Qin, Z. Hu, H. Xu, Y.A. Wang, Z. Chen, S. Kim, D.M. Shin, Z.G. Chen, Targeted iron-oxide nanoparticle for photodynamic therapy and imaging of head and neck cancer, ACS Nano 8 (2014) 6620–6632.
- [193] F. Rechenmacher, S. Neubauer, J. Polleux, C. Mas-Moruno, M. De Simone, E.A. Cavalcanti-Adam, J.P. Spatz, R. Fassler, H. Kessler, Functionalizing alphavbeta3- or alpha5beta1-selective integrin antagonists for surface coating: a method to discriminate integrin subtypes in vitro, Angew. Chem. 52 (2013) 1572–1575.
- [194] S. Neubauer, F. Rechenmacher, A.J. Beer, F. Curnis, K. Pohle, C. D'Alessandria, H.J. Wester, U. Reuning, A. Corti, M. Schwaiger, H. Kessler, Selective imaging of the angiogenic relevant integrins alpha5beta1 and alphavbeta3, Angew. Chem. 52 (2013) 11656–11659.
- [195] S. Mukhopadhyay, C.M. Barnes, A. Haskel, S.M. Short, K.R. Barnes, S.J. Lippard, Conjugated platinum(IV)-peptide complexes for targeting angiogenic tumor vasculature, Bioconjug. Chem. 19 (2008) 39–49.
- [196] D. Pan, N. Sanyal, A.H. Schmieder, A. Senpan, B. Kim, X. Yang, G. Hu, J.S. Allen, R.W. Gross, S.A. Wickline, G.M. Lanza, Antiangiogenic nanotherapy with lipase-labile Sn-2 fumagillin prodrug, Nanomedicine 7 (2012) 1507–1519.
- [197] X. Fu, A. Rivera, L. Tao, X. Zhang, Genetically modified T cells targeting neovasculature efficiently destroy tumor blood vessels, shrink established solid tumors and increase nanoparticle delivery, Int. J. Cancer 133 (2013) 2483–2492.
- [198] S. Kunjachan, R. Pola, F. Gremse, B. Theek, J. Ehling, D. Moeckel, B. Hermanns-Sachweh, M. Pechar, K. Ulbrich, W.E. Hennink, G. Storm, W. Lederle, F. Kiessling, T. Lammers, Passive versus active tumor targeting using RGD- and NGR-modified polymeric nanomedicines, Nano Lett. 14 (2014) 972–981.